

LIBRARY Michigan State University

This is to certify that the dissertation entitled

Generalizations of the Reduced Distance in the Ricci Flow – Monotonicity and Applications

presented by

Joerg Enders

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for the

Ph.D.

Mathematics

N0

degree in

Major Professor's Signature

June 19,2008

Date

MSU is an affirmative-action, equal-opportunity employer

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due. MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

	DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE
ļ			
i			
I			

5/08 K /Proj/Acc&Pres/CIRC/DateDue indd

Generalizations of the Reduced Distance in the Ricci Flow - Monotonicity and Applications

By

Joerg Enders

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Mathematics

2008

ABSTRACT

Generalizations of the Reduced Distance in the Ricci Flow - Monotonicity and Applications

By

Joerg Enders

The evolution of a Riemannian metric by the Ricci flow has been found to be very powerful in studying and classifying manifolds of certain curvature conditions. However, the flow typically develops singularities in finite time, which need to be understood. Quantities monotone in time are a common tool to study geometric flows near singularities.

We define a reduced distance function based at a point at the singular time of a Ricci flow on a complete *n*-dimensional manifold M. Our curvature bound assumption is weaker than the generic type I condition. We show that the corresponding reduced volume based at singular time is monotone along the flow. Since the quantity being constant implies that the flow is a gradient shrinking soliton, type I singularities can be modeled by those special solutions. We also show the monotonicity of the reduced volume arising from the reduced distance to a compact submanifold of M, and we similarly extend that notion to singular time. To my parents,

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author would like to thank his advisor, Professor Jon Wolfson, for support, encouragement and enumerable discussions related to this work. Thanks also go to the other members of the dissertation committee, Professor Xiaodong Wang for many conversations regarding this research, as well as Professors Ronald Fintushel, Thomas Parker, and Zhengfang Zhou. The author also extends his gratitude to Professors Bennett Chow and Lei Ni for comments regarding this project.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	vii
1 Introduction	1
2 Background on Ricci flow	5
2.1 The equation and its properties	5
2.2 Special solutions	6
2.2.1 Einstein solutions	7
2.2.2 Gradient shrinking solitons	8
2.3 Perelman's reduced distance	11
2.4 Reduced volume and monotonicity	14
3 Reduced distance and monotonicity based at singular time	17
3.1 Motivation	17
3.2 Type A Ricci flow solutions	19
3.3 Reduced distance based at singular time	20
3.4 Reduced volume monotonicity based at singular time	28
3.5 Examples	33
3.5.1 Einstein solutions	33
3.5.2 Gradient shrinking solitons	35
3.6 The inverse of Corollary 3.4.3 (iii) \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	40
4 Applications of monotonicity based at singular time	42
4.1 Rescaling limits of type I Ricci flows are gradient shrinking solitons	43
4.2 Definition of a density	48
5 Reduced distance and monotonicity based at a submanifold	52
5.1 Motivation	52
5.2 Reduced distance based at a submanifold	54
5.3 Reduced volume monotonicity based at a submanifold	61
5.4 Reduced distance and volume based at a submanifold at singular time	63
5.5 Examples	65
6 Conclusions	67
6.1 Reduced distance based at a point at singular time	67
6.2 Reduced distance based at a submanifold	69

A	Shi's derivative estimates	71
В	Cheeger-Gromov-Hamilton Compactness Theorem	72
BI	BLIOGRAPHY	75

LIST OF FIGURES

2.1	\mathcal{L} -length of a curve γ in M^n between (q, \overline{t}) and (p, t_0)	12
2.2	Reduced volume monotonicity based at (p, t_0) for some Ricci flow $g(t)$.	15
3.1	Convergence of the reduced distances with base times t_i approaching T	18
3.2	Construction of $\gamma(t)$ for a uniform bound on $L_{p,t_i}(q,\bar{t})$	21
3.3	Reduced volume monotonicity based at singular time (p, T)	29
3.4	Gradient shrinking soliton with $f \neq l_{p,T} + c$	39
4.1	Parabolic rescaling and Cheeger-Gromov-Hamilton convergence	44
4.2	Convergence of rescaled reduced volumes based at singular time \ldots .	46
4.3	Convergence of reduced volumes to singular time and density loss \ldots .	49
4.4	Relation between density and limit gradient shrinking soliton	50
5.1	Formation of a neckpinch	53
5.2	A symmetric neckpinch	53
5.3	The \mathcal{L} -distance from (q, \overline{t}) to a submanifold (S, t_0)	55

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Given an n-dimensional Riemannian manifold M^n , Hamilton [16] introduced the evolution of an initial metric g(0) on M^n through a family of metrics g(t) according to

$$\frac{\partial g(t)}{\partial t} = -2Ric_{g(t)}.$$

Such a family $(M^n, g(t)), t \in [0, T)$ is called a Ricci flow. The analysis of this quasilinear second order (weakly) parabolic partial differential equation requires understanding the competition between the heat equation type (smoothing) behavior of the evolution and the development of singularities. In general, Ricci flows in dimensions $n \ge 3$ develop singularities and do not limit to a constant curvature metric (after renormalization). To classify manifolds in a particular case in dimension 4, Hamilton [19] introduced the concept of "Ricci flow with surgery" to continue the flow beyond singularities. Pursuing this idea in arbitrary dimensions without strong curvature assumptions requires a careful analysis of the singularities developing in Ricci flow. This is where one of Perelman's main contributions comes in. For any $p \in M^n$ and $0 < t_0$ less than the singular time T, the "reduced distance" l_{p,t_0} arises from a space-time version of Riemannian geometry adapted to the Ricci flow in all dimensions [26]. It is a locally Lipschitz function on $M^n \times [0, t_0]$ and satisfies important partial differential inequalities. Those imply that the "reduced volume based at (p, t_0) "

$$\tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t}) := \int_{M^n} \left(4\pi (t_0 - \bar{t}) \right)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})} \, dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q)$$

is monotone nondecreasing in \bar{t} along the Ricci flow on $[0, t_0]$. Moreover, $\tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t})$ is constant in \bar{t} if and only if $(M^n, g(t))$ is isometric to Euclidean space with the flat (non-evolving) metric.

The reduced volume is the key analytic tool to prove the "No Local Collapsing Theorem", which is essential to extract Cheeger-Gromov type limit flows from a sequence of rescaled Ricci flows around a singularity. For limit flows with nonnegative curvature operator arising from finite time singularities, Perelman uses the reduced distance again to obtain blow-down limits that are gradient shrinking solitons, i.e. only evolve by shrinking in scale and changing by diffeomorphisms generated by a gradient vector field. By classifying gradient shrinking solitons in dimension 3, this fully explains the structure of singularities and allows one to perform surgery to continue the flow [27].

Perelman's argument is 3-dimensional in several key steps. On the other hand, Hamilton conjectured that gradient shrinking solitons arise as blow-up solutions for type I singularities, i.e. as rescaling limits around singularities of Ricci flows satisfying the (generic) curvature bound

$$\sup_{M^n} |Rm_{g(t)}|_{g(t)} \le \frac{C}{T-t}$$

If such a rescaling limit is compact, the conjecture follows from [29]. The proof uses the monotonicity of Perelman's entropy functional: the scaling properties of the entropy imply that the functional is constant on the limit flow, which is precisely the case on gradient shrinking solitons.

Unlike the entropy functional, the reduced volume is defined for any complete Ricci flow (of any dimension). After presenting the necessary background in Chapter 2, we extend in Chapter 3 the reduced distance and volume to the singular time T to allow for gradient shrinking solitons other than flat Euclidean space to appear in the equality case of the monotonicity formula. To do this, we introduce a new (mild) curvature bound, which is more general than the type I assumption:

Definition 1.0.1 Let $T < \infty$. A complete n-dimensional Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ on [0,T) is said to be of **type A** if there exist C > 0 and $r \in [1, \frac{3}{2})$ such that for all $t \in [0,T)$

$$\sup_{M^n} |Rm_{g(t)}|_{g(t)} \le \frac{C}{(T-t)^r}.$$

To our knowledge, it is not known whether there are closed maximal Ricci flows on [0, T) that are not of type A. In [11], and in this dissertation in Section 3.3, we prove the following main

Theorem 1.0.2 Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a complete n-dimensional Ricci flow on [0, T)of type A. Also let $p \in M^n$ and $t_i \nearrow T$. Then there exists a locally Lipschitz reduced distance based at singular time $l_{p,T} : M^n \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R}$, which is a subsequential limit

$$l_{p,t_i} \xrightarrow{C^0_{loc}(M^n \times (0,T))} l_{p,T}$$

and for all $(q, \bar{t}) \in M^n \times (0, T)$ satisfies the partial differential inequality

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) - \Delta_{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{n}{2(T-\bar{t})} \ge 0$$

in the sense of distributions.

We then define for $\bar{t} \in (0,T)$ a reduced volume based at singular time (p,T)by

$$\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) := \int_{M^n} \left((4\pi (T-\bar{t}))^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t})} dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q), \right)$$

and show any reduced volume based at singular time is monotone nondecreasing in \bar{t} . This uses the differential inequality in the theorem. Moreover, $\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) \leq 1$ for all

 $\bar{t} \in (0,T)$, and if $\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t})$ is constant in \bar{t} then $(M^n, g(t))$ is a gradient shrinking soliton (see the precise statement in Section 3.4).

In Chapter 4 we illustrate how the usefulness of the reduced volume for analyzing the structure of singularities is increased by generalizing the reduced volume defined at smooth points in space-time to points at the singular time T. It also is a more direct analogue to Huisken's well-known monotonicity formula for the mean curvature flow [20]. We show how one can use the reduced volume monotonicity based at singular time to prove Hamilton's conjecture without the restriction of compact blow-ups. This has recently been done in [23], where similar estimates to define $l_{p,T}$ have been obtained under the assumptions that the Ricci flow is of type I (and κ -noncollapsed).

As a further generalization, in Chapter 5, we define and prove the monotonicity of the reduced volume arising from a reduced distance to a lower-dimensional submanifold S of M^n . It turns out that this quantity can also be extended to singular base time. Our discussion is motivated by examples of singular sets, which are of lower dimension than M^n .

The dissertation finishes with conclusions in Chapter 6. We mention an alternative definition of a reduced distance based at singular time, as well as future directions of further understanding and employing the generalizations of Perelman's reduced distance introduced in Chapters 3 and 5.

CHAPTER 2

Background on Ricci flow

In this chapter we will present the background material on Ricci flow needed in the subsequent chapters. After a discussion of important solutions to the Ricci flow, we will mainly focus on the reduced distance and its properties. The natural way the reduced distance arises is backward in time. While the forward time formulation chosen here is different from Perelman's original paper [26], it prepares the discussion in the later chapters. We finish the chapter with a discussion of the reduced volume and its monotonicity.

2.1 The equation and its properties

Let $(M^n, g(t)), t \in [0, T), 0 < T < \infty$ be a 1-parameter family of complete oriented connected n-dimensional Riemannian manifolds with bounded (sectional) curvature solving the equation

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} = -2Ric_{g(t)},\tag{2.1}$$

where $Ric_{g(t)}$ denotes the Ricci curvature tensor of the metric g(t). We call a family with the assumptions as above a **Ricci flow on** [0, T) throughout this thesis. In particular, we will always assume that the curvature for each g(t) is bounded. It follows from work by Hamilton [16], DeTurck [9], Shi [31][32] as well as Chen and Zhu [5] that for a given complete Riemannian manifold with bounded curvature (M^n, g_0) , there exists a unique solution to this quasilinear second order weakly parabolic equation (2.1) with $g(0) = g_0$ on a time interval [0, T) and the solution is maximal if and only if

$$\lim_{t \nearrow T} \sup_{M^n} |Rm_{g(t)}|_{g(t)} = \infty,$$

where $Rm_{g(t)}$ denotes the full curvature tensor of g(t).

If we let $p \in M^n$, and $\{x^i\}$ normal coordinates near $p \in M^n$, then we can compute at p that

$$\frac{\partial g_{ij}}{\partial t} = -2R_{ij} = 3\Delta g_{ij}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where R_{ij} are the components of the Ricci tensor, and Δ is the coordinate Laplacian. While equation (2.2) only holds at p, and hence doesn't prove short-time existence, it indicates that the Ricci flow is the "heat equation for the Riemannian metric". This explains the many results of special curvature cone conditions that are preserved under the flow, as well as convergence to asymptotically round metrics under positivity assumptions, e.g. (2-)positive curvature operator [2]. In general, however, the nonlinearity of the equation causes the formation of singularities in finite time, before the manifold tends to constant curvature. This happens even when the topology is simple.

2.2 Special solutions

In this section we will discuss special solutions to the Ricci flow (2.1). In particular, gradient shrinking solitons will play a key role in the further discussions, namely in the equality case of the monotone quantities.

The proper fixed points of the equation are **Ricci flat solutions:** Any g_0 with

 $Ric_{g_0} \equiv 0$ gives rise to a solution $g(t) = g_0$. The metric does not evolve with time. A trivial example is the flat metric $g_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ on Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n .

Because of the scaling and diffeomorphism invariance of the Ricci tensor, we next consider generalized fixed points of the equation.

2.2.1 Einstein solutions

Let (M^n, g_0) , n > 1, be an Einstein manifold, i.e. g_0 satisfies

$$Ric_{g_0} = \frac{R_{g_0}}{n}g_0.$$

where R_{g_0} denotes the constant scalar curvature of g_0 . Then

$$g(t) = \left(1 - \frac{2}{n} R_{g_0} t\right) g_0 \tag{2.3}$$

is a solution to the Ricci flow, where g(t) is Einstein for each t. It only changes by scaling. Einstein manifolds are fixed points of the volume normalized Ricci flow

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} = -2Ric_{g(t)} + \frac{2}{n} \frac{\int_M R_{g(t)} dvol_{g(t)}}{Vol(g(t))} g(t).$$
(2.4)

If $R_{g_0} > 0$, the solution (2.3) exists on the time interval $(-\infty, \frac{n}{2R_{g_0}})$. With $T := \frac{n}{2R_{g_0}}$, we then get

$$R_{g(t)} = \frac{n}{2(T-t)}$$
 and $Ric_{g(t)} = \frac{1}{2(T-t)}g(t).$ (2.5)

Example 2.2.1 The shrinking round *n*-sphere $(S^n, g(t))$, n > 1, on the maximal time interval $(-\infty, T)$ is given by

$$g(t) = 2(n-1)(T-t)g_{S^n},$$

where g_{S^n} denotes the standard round metric on S^n of sectional curvature 1.

2.2.2 Gradient shrinking solitons

Motivated by Perelman's perspective in [26] and [27], we make the following

Definition 2.2.2 A Riemannian manifold (M^n, g) is called a gradient shrinking soliton if there exists a potential function $f: M \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$Ric_g + \nabla^g \nabla^g f - \frac{1}{2}g = 0, \qquad (2.6)$$

where $\nabla^g \nabla^g f$ denotes the covariant Hessian of f. We will typically write (M^n, g, f) .

Remark 2.2.3 By making the definition as above, we assume that gradient shrinking solitons come at a certain scale: A more general definition requires (M^n, g, f) to satisfy

$$Ric_g + \nabla^g \nabla^g f - \frac{\lambda}{2}g = 0,$$

where $\lambda > 0$. We can always scale such an f and g to obtain (2.6).

If $\nabla^g f$ determines a complete vector field, then we get a corresponding Ricci flow g(t) on $(-\infty, T)$ with g(T-1) = g, called **gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form**, in the following way [7]: The 1-parameter family of diffeomorphisms ϕ_t of M^n generated by integrating the vector field $\frac{1}{T-t}\nabla^g f$ (with $\phi_{T-1} = id$) gives us

$$g(t) = (T - t)\phi_t^* g.$$
(2.7)

With the potential function $f(t) = \phi_t^* f$, the solution g(t) satisfies the analogue of (2.6) on $(-\infty, T)$, i.e.

$$Ric_{g(t)} + \nabla^{g(t)} \nabla^{g(t)} f(t) - \frac{1}{2(T-t)} g(t) = 0.$$
(2.8)

Also, f(t) satisfies

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial t} = |\nabla^{g(t)} f(t)|^2_{g(t)}.$$
(2.9)

As we will always assume that (M^n, g) has bounded curvature, it follows from (2.6) that $\nabla^g f$ is at most linear, and in particular complete. Given a gradient shrinking soliton, we can therefore always obtain the corresponding gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form.

Remark 2.2.4 We would like to make the following clarification, which we have not seen carefully discussed in the literature: If we have a Ricci flow g(t) on [0,T) which together with a 1-parameter family of functions f(t) satisfies (2.8), this clearly defines a gradient shrinking soliton according to Definition 2.2.2 by considering the equation at t = T - 1. If $\nabla^{g(T-1)}f(T-1)$ is complete, we can conclude by uniqueness of the Ricci flow [5] that the corresponding Ricci flow in canonical form equals g(t) on [T-1,T). Moreover, if (2.9) holds for the original family of functions f(t), then the given triple $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$ is the gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form constructed from g(T-1) as explained above.

Solitons are "self-similar" solutions, since they evolve only by scaling and diffeomorphism. Their existence is to be expected due to the diffeomorphism invariance of the Ricci flow equation (2.1). We can regard them as generalized fixed points, i.e. fixed points of the volume normalized Ricci (2.4) flow on the space of metrics modulo the diffeomorphism group.

Without going into a more detailed discussion, we mention that by changing the minus sign in (2.6) to "+" (or dropping the metric term), one can analogously define **gradient expanding** (or **steady**) **solitons**. Also, if the vector field generating the diffeomorphisms ϕ_t is not a gradient vector field, one gets a more general notion of solitons. It follows from [26] (in the compact case) and [23] (in the complete case) that any soliton is a gradient shrinking soliton for some (possibly different) vector field.

Example 2.2.5 By (2.5) and Remark 2.2.4 we see that any Einstein solution with positive scalar curvature can be regarded as a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form with $f \equiv 0$ (or f such that ∇f is a Killing vector field) and scaled so that $\frac{R_0}{n} = \frac{1}{2}$.

Example 2.2.6 Consider the non-evolving Ricci flow $(\mathbb{R}^n, g(t) = g_{\mathbb{R}^n})$. With $f(x,t) = \frac{|x|^2}{4(T-t)}$, we have

$$\nabla \nabla f(t) = \frac{1}{2(T-t)} g_{\mathbb{R}^n},$$

which makes flat Euclidean space into a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form, called **Gaussian soliton**. It will arise in an important context in Section 2.4.

Example 2.2.7 Consider the round shrinking cylinder

$$\left(S^{n-k} \times \mathbb{R}^k, g(t) = 2(n-k-1)(T-t)g_{S^{n-k}} + g_{\mathbb{R}^k}\right),$$

where $n - k \ge 2$. It follows easily from examples 2.2.1,2.2.5 and 2.2.6 that this is a solution to Ricci flow which is a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form with potential

$$f(\theta, x, t) = \frac{|x|_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}^k}}^2}{4(T-t)}$$

where $\theta \in S^{n-k}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$.

Example 2.2.8 Example 2.2.7 is a special case of the following: We can construct gradient shrinking solitons as products of Einstein solutions N^{n-k} of positive scalar curvature with flat Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^k . It is an interesting question to ask when gradient shrinking solitons are of that form [28].

We will now discuss an important equation satisfied by gradient shrinking solitons: Let $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$ be a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form on $(-\infty, T)$. Taking the trace of equation (2.8) gives

$$R_{g(t)} + \Delta_{g(t)} f(t) - \frac{n}{2(T-t)} = 0.$$
(2.10)

We conclude from equations (2.9) and (2.10) that

$$-\frac{\partial f}{\partial t} - \Delta_{g(t)}f(t) + |\nabla^{g(t)}f(t)|^2_{g(t)} - R_{g(t)} + \frac{n}{2(T-t)} = 0.$$
(2.11)

In Perelman's point of view [26], if we let

$$u(x,t) := \left(4\pi(T-t)\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-f(x,t)}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where $x \in M^n$ and $t \in (-\infty, T)$, then a straight forward computation shows that (2.11) is equivalent to

$$\Box_{g(t)}^* u(x,t) = 0.$$
 (2.13)

Here

$$\Box_{g(t)}^* = -\frac{\partial}{\partial t} - \Delta_{g(t)} + R_{g(t)}$$

denotes the formal adjoint of the heat operator $\Box_{g(t)} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} - \Delta_{g(t)}$ under the Ricci flow. This observation will play a key role in the equality case of the reduced volume monotonicity.

We will also need the following fact: If $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$ is a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form, then it follows from the contracted second Bianchi identity and (2.8) that there exists a constants C(t), such that

$$R_{g(t)} + |\nabla^{g(t)}f(t)|^2_{g(t)} - \frac{f(t)}{T-t} = C(t).$$
(2.14)

2.3 Perelman's reduced distance

In this section we will briefly discuss Perelman's reduced distance for the Ricci flow. Contrary to [26], we will use forward time notation rather than backward time, since it will come more natural when we consider a sequence of different base-times in Chapter 3. The monotonicity of Perelman's reduced volume will then be described in Section 2.4. While the results are due to Perelman, there are by now several references detailing his work, e.g. [30], [21], [36], [6], [22]. **Definition 2.3.1** Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a Ricci flow on [0, T). For any curve $\gamma : [\bar{t}, t_0] \to M$, where $0 < \bar{t} < t_0 < T$, we define the \mathcal{L} -length of γ by

$$\mathcal{L}(\gamma) := \int_{\overline{t}}^{t_0} \sqrt{t_0 - t} \big(|\dot{\gamma}(t)|_{g(t)}^2 + R_{g(t)}(\gamma(t)) \big) dt.$$

Figure 2.1 illustrates this definition.



Figure 2.1: \mathcal{L} -length of a curve γ in M^n between (q, \bar{t}) and (p, t_0) .

At a curve γ , the first variation of \mathcal{L} with fixed endpoints is given by

$$\delta_Y \mathcal{L}(\gamma) = \left\langle 2\sqrt{t_0 - t} \,\dot{\gamma}(t), Y(t) \right\rangle \Big|_{\bar{t}}^{t_0} \tag{2.15}$$

$$-\int_{\bar{t}}^{t_0} 2\sqrt{t_0 - t} \langle \nabla_{\dot{\gamma}(t)}^{g(t)} \dot{\gamma}(t) - \frac{1}{2(t_0 - t)} \dot{\gamma}(t) - 2Ric_{g(t)} (\dot{\gamma}(t), \cdot)^{\#} - \frac{1}{2} \nabla^{g(t)} R_{g(t)}, Y(t) \rangle dt.$$

Y(t) is the variational vector field along $\gamma(t)$ with $Y(\bar{t}) = Y(t_0) = 0$ and # denotes the metric dual, which we will omit. The Euler-Lagrange equation is called \mathcal{L} -geodesic equation and given by

$$\nabla_{\dot{\gamma}(t)}^{g(t)}\dot{\gamma}(t) - \frac{1}{2(t_0 - t)}\dot{\gamma}(t) - 2Ric_{g(t)}(\dot{\gamma}(t), \cdot) - \frac{1}{2}\nabla^{g(t)}R_{g(t)} = 0.$$
(2.16)

Smooth solutions to (2.16) are called \mathcal{L} -geodesics. Multiplying by $t_0 - t$, we can rewrite (2.16) to get rid of the unbounded coefficient of the second term:

$$\nabla_{\sqrt{t_0 - t}\dot{\gamma}(t)}^{g(t)}(\sqrt{t_0 - t}\dot{\gamma}(t)) - 2\sqrt{t_0 - t}Ric_{g(t)}(\sqrt{t_0 - t}\dot{\gamma}(t), \cdot) - \frac{1}{2}(t_0 - t)\nabla^{g(t)}R_{g(t)} = 0.$$
(2.17)

Using the direct method in the calculus of variations after a change of variables in \mathcal{L} , as well as the ODE (2.17) together with the assumed curvature bound and Shi's derivative estimates [32] (see also Appendix A), one obtains the following

Proposition 2.3.2 For any (q, \bar{t}) and (p, t_0) with $p, q \in M^n$ and $0 < \bar{t} < t_0 < T$ there exists an \mathcal{L} -minimizing \mathcal{L} -geodesic γ : $[\bar{t}, t_0] \rightarrow M$ with $\gamma(\bar{t}) = q$ and $\gamma(t_0) = p$. Moreover, the **initial vector** $\lim_{t \nearrow t_0} \sqrt{t_0 - t} \dot{\gamma}(t) \in T_p M$ exists.

Definition 2.3.3 For (q, \bar{t}) and (p, t_0) as in the Proposition 2.3.2, we define

(i) the \mathcal{L} -distance from (q, \bar{t}) to (p, t_0)

$$L_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) := \inf \{ \mathcal{L}(\gamma) \mid \gamma : [\bar{t}, t_0] \to M, \gamma(\bar{t}) = q, \gamma(t_0) = p \},\$$

(ii) the reduced distance based at (p, t_0)

$$l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) := \frac{L_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})}{2\sqrt{t_0-\bar{t}}},$$

(iii) and

$$v_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) := (4\pi(t_0-\bar{t}))^{-\frac{n}{2}}e^{-l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})}$$

We will fix $(p, t_0) \in M^n \times (0, T)$ and regard L_{p,t_0} , l_{p,t_0} and v_{p,t_0} as functions on space-time $M^n \times (0, t_0)$.

By studying the second variation of \mathcal{L} and obtaining a Laplacian comparison theorem for the reduced distance. Perelman derives the following three differential (in)equalities:

Theorem 2.3.4 Fix $(p, t_0) \in M^n \times (0, T)$. Then for all $(q, \bar{t}) \in M^n \times (0, t_0)$ the following hold:

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) - \Delta_{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{n}{2(t_0 - \bar{t})} \ge 0,$$
(2.18)

or equivalently,
$$\Box_{g(\bar{t})}^* v_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \le 0.$$
(2.19)

$$-|\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|^2_{g(\bar{t})} + R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{l_{p,t_0}(q,t) - n}{t_0 - \bar{t}} + 2\Delta_{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \le 0.$$
(2.20)

$$-2\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}}l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|^2_{g(\bar{t})} - R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})}{t_0 - \bar{t}} = 0.$$
(2.21)

Remark 2.3.5 It can be shown (see e.g. [36]) that $L_{p,t_0}(q, \bar{t})$ is locally Lipschitz on $M^n \times (0, t_0)$. Hence, the same is true for $l_{p,t_0}(q, \bar{t})$ and $v_{p,t_0}(q, \bar{t})$, and the functions are differentiable a.e. in q and \bar{t} . The (in)equalities in Theorem 2.3.4 therefore hold in the barrier sense, or in the weak sense. In particular, they hold in the sense of distributions. For (2.18) this means that for any nonnegative $\phi \in C_{cpt}^{\infty}(M^n \times (0, t_0))$

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{M} \left(\left(-\frac{\partial}{\partial t} l_{p,t_{0}} + |\nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,t_{0}}|_{g(t)}^{2} - R_{g(t)} + \frac{n}{2(t_{0} - t)} \right) \phi$$

$$+ \nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,t_{0}} \cdot \nabla^{g(t)} \phi \right) dvol_{g(t)} dt \ge 0.$$
(2.22)

In fact, $l_{p,t_0}(q, \bar{t})$ is smooth away from a closed subset $C \subset M^n \times (0, t_0)$, and $C \cap M^n \times \{t\}$ has zero Lebesgue measure in $M^n \times \{t\}$ for every $t \in (0, t_0)$.

2.4 Reduced volume and monotonicity

We can now define Perelman's reduced volume.

Definition 2.4.1 Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a Ricci flow on [0, T), and $(p, t_0) \in M^n \times (0, T)$. Then for each $\bar{t} \in (0, t_0)$ we define the **reduced volume based at** (p, t_0) by

$$\tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t}) := \int_M v_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \, dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q) = \int_M \left(4\pi(t_0-\bar{t})\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})} \, dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q).$$

Example 2.4.2 For the Gaussian soliton (Example 2.2.6) one computes

$$l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) = \frac{|q-p|^2}{4(t_0-\bar{t})}.$$

and hence

$$\tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(4\pi (t_0 - \bar{t}) \right)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-\frac{|q-p|^2}{4(t_0 - \bar{t})}} \, dq = 1$$

The monotonicity of the reduced volume along the Ricci flow (see also Figure 2.2) is now essentially a consequence of inequality (2.19) in Theorem 2.3.4:

Corollary 2.4.3 (Monotonicity of the reduced volume)

Under the same assumptions as in Definition 2.4.1, we have

- (i) $\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t}) \ge 0$,
- (*ii*) $\lim_{\bar{t} \nearrow t_0} \tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t}) = 1$,
- (iii) $\tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t}_1) = \tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t}_2)$ for $0 < \bar{t}_1 < \bar{t}_2 < t_0$ if and only if $(M^n, g(t))$ is isometric to the Gaussian soliton $(\mathbb{R}^n, g_{\mathbb{R}^n})$ and $\tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t}) \equiv 1$.



Figure 2.2: Reduced volume monotonicity based at (p, t_0) for some Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ on [0, T).

The reduced distance and reduced volume monotonicity are one of the most important analytic ingredients for Perelman's study of singularities in the Ricci flow [26]. First, the reduced volume is used to prove the "No Local Collapsing Theorem", which is necessary to guarantee Cheeger-Gromov-Hamilton convergence of rescaled flows to a singularity model. In a next step, the reduced distance is again the essential tool to construct asymptotic solitons for ancient solutions. Those help in the classification of singularities. In the next chapter, we will extend the reduced distance and volume to base points at singular time.

CHAPTER 3

Reduced distance and monotonicity based at singular time

3.1 Motivation

In the previous chapter, we defined the reduced volume \tilde{V}_{p,t_0} for smooth points in space-time (p,t_0) . We now discuss our main motivation to allow the base time t_0 in the reduced volume to be the singular time T of a Ricci flow.

Results of the type of Corollary 2.4.3 are known for other monotone quantities in geometric evolution equations, e.g. for Perelman's λ - and μ -functionals for the Ricci flow [26], or Huisken's monotonicity formula for the mean curvature flow [20]. In all of those, solitons arise in the equality case. Note also that the equality of Harnack expressions in the Ricci flow similarly identifies gradient expanding and steady solitons, see e.g. [17], [4], [24].

In the proof of Corollary 2.4.3 (iii), it is the fact that at time t_0 the curvature is bounded, that limits the equality case of the monotonicity to the Gaussian soliton. If we are able to base the reduced distance and volume at singular time (p, T) for a maximal Ricci flow on [0, T), depending on the base point $p \in M^n$, we expect to get gradient shrinking solitons other than the Gaussian soliton, whenever this generalized reduced volume is constant. We will prove this in Corollary 3.4.3. Before that, in Section 3.3, we will define a reduced distance based at singular time and study its properties. Our approach is as follows:

Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a maximal Ricci flow on [0, T). Let $t_i \nearrow T$ and $p \in M^n$. Then for all $(q, \bar{t}) \in M^n \times (0, T)$ the reduced distance $l_{p,t_i}(q, \bar{t})$ is defined for large enough iand the differential inequality (2.18) holds for each such i. This raises two questions:

- (i) Does there exist a good limit $l_{p,T} := \lim_{t_i \nearrow T} l_{p,t_i}$?
- (ii) Does a differential inequality analogous to (2.18) hold for $l_{p,T}$?

In Figure 3.1, we sketch the idea to define a reduced distance based at a point p at singular time T.



Figure 3.1: Convergence of the reduced distances $l_{p,t_i}(q,\bar{t})$ from q and p based at times t_i approaching the singular time T.

While the discussion is motivated by a base point p in the singular set (see Definition 4.2.2) in order to apply the quantity $l_{p,T}$ to the analysis of singularities as we discuss in Chapter 4, this will not be a requirement in our main result in this section. We will address the issue of the choice of base points in Sections 3.5.2 and 4.2. In general, to answer the two questions above positively, we need to mildly strengthen the bounded curvature assumption to a new curvature condition.

3.2 Type A Ricci flow solutions

Definition 3.2.1 A Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ on [0, T) is said to be of type **A** if there exist C > 0 and $r \in [1, \frac{3}{2})$ such that for all $t \in [0, T)$

$$\sup_{M^n} |Rm_{g(t)}|_{g(t)} \leq \frac{C}{(T-t)^r}.$$

Note that for r = 1 this includes the well-known **type I** condition. From the maximum principle for $|Rm_{g(t)}|_{g(t)}$ it follows that for a closed maximal Ricci flow on the interval [0, T)

$$\max_{M^n} |Rm_{g(t)}|_{g(t)} \ge \frac{1}{8(T-t)},$$

which implies that curvature blow-up with r < 1 is impossible. On the other hand, the type I condition is assumed to be generic. To our knowledge it is not known whether there are closed maximal Ricci flows which are not of type A. The only known example of a type II (i.e. not of type I) closed Ricci flow is the degenerate neckpinch [15], but its curvature blow-up rate is not known. In [8], an example of a type II Ricci flow on \mathbb{R}^2 is shown to blow up proportional to $\frac{1}{(T-t)^2}$.

Example 3.2.2 Let $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$ be a complete gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form with bounded curvature. Then it follows directly from equation (2.7) that the flow is of type A, in fact of type I.

3.3 Reduced distance based at singular time

In this section, we state and prove the main

Theorem 3.3.1 Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a Ricci flow on [0, T) of type A. Also let $p \in M^n$ and $t_i \nearrow T$. Then there exists a locally Lipschitz function

$$l_{p,T}: M^n \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R},$$

which is a subsequential limit

$$l_{p,t_i} \xrightarrow{C^0_{loc}(M^n \times (0,T))} l_{p,T}$$

and which satisfies the differential inequality analogous to (2.18), i.e. for all $(q, \bar{t}) \in M^n \times (0, T)$

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) - \Delta_{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{n}{2(T-\bar{t})} \ge 0 \quad (3.1)$$

holds in the sense of distributions. Equivalently,

$$\Box_{g(\bar{t})}^* v_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) \le 0, \tag{3.2}$$

where

$$v_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) := (4\pi(T-\bar{t}))^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t})}.$$

Remark 3.3.2 This theorem has been independently obtained in [23] under the type I assumption (and κ -noncollapsedness) using very similar techniques.

Theorem 3.3.1 allows us to make the following

Definition 3.3.3 Under the assumptions of Theorem 3.3.1 we define

$$l_{p,T}: M^n \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R}$$

to be a reduced distance based at singular time (p,T) in the Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$.

We now give the proof of Theorem 3.3.1.

Proof. To simplify notation let $l_i := l_{p,t_i}(q, \bar{t})$ and $L_i := L_{p,t_i}(q, \bar{t})$. The proof will be in 3 steps.

1. First, we will derive a basic uniform bound on l_i on compact subsets $K = K_1 \times [a, b] \subset M^n \times (0, T)$. By definition of l_i it suffices to show such a bound for L_i on K. Let $\eta : [0, 1] \to M$ be a g(0)-geodesic with $\eta(0) = q$ and $\eta(1) = p$. Fix $k \in (b, T)$. As depicted in Figure 3.2, consider the curve

$$\gamma(t) := \begin{cases} \eta(\frac{t-\bar{t}}{k-t}) & t \in [\bar{t},k] \\ p & t \in (k,t_i] \end{cases}$$



Figure 3.2: Construction of $\gamma(t)$ for a uniform bound on $L_{p,t_i}(q, \bar{t})$.

Since $|\eta'(s)|_{g(0)}^2 = c$ for a constant c, the uniform equivalence of the metrics along the Ricci flow on [0, k] yields a constant D such that $|\eta'(s)|_{g(t)}^2 \leq D$. The type A assumption implies that there exist constants C > 0 and $r \in [1, \frac{3}{2})$ such that $|R| \leq \frac{C}{(T-t)^r}$. If $L_i(q, \bar{t}) \geq 0$, we get the following estimate:

$$|L_{i}(q,\bar{t})| \leq \left| \int_{\bar{t}}^{t_{i}} \sqrt{t_{i}-t} \left(|\dot{\gamma}(t)|_{g(t)}^{2} + R_{g(t)}(\gamma(t)) \right) dt \right|$$

$$\leq \int_{\bar{t}}^{k} \frac{\sqrt{t_{i}-t}}{(k-\bar{t})^{2}} \left| \eta' \left(\frac{t-\bar{t}}{k-\bar{t}} \right) \right|_{g(t)}^{2} dt + C \int_{\bar{t}}^{T} \frac{\sqrt{t_{i}-t}}{(T-t)^{r}} dt$$

$$\leq \frac{D\sqrt{T}}{k-b} + \frac{2C}{3-2r} T^{\frac{3}{2}-r} =: E.$$
(3.3)

If $L_i(q, \bar{t}) < 0$, we let $\gamma(t)$ be an \mathcal{L} -minimizing \mathcal{L} -geodesic such that $L_i(q, \bar{t}) = \mathcal{L}(\gamma)$. Then we get the same bound:

$$L_{i}(q,\bar{t}) = \int_{\bar{t}}^{t_{i}} \sqrt{t_{i}-t} \left(\left| \dot{\gamma}(t) \right|_{g(t)}^{2} + R_{g(t)}(\gamma(t)) \right) dt$$

$$\geq -\int_{\bar{t}}^{t_{i}} \sqrt{t_{i}-t} \left| R_{g(t)}(\gamma(t)) \right| dt$$

$$\geq -E.$$

Thus, we have uniform bounds in i on any given compact subset K.

2. Next we derive uniform derivative bounds for L_i on compact subsets K of spacetime as above. We first prove

Lemma 3.3.4 Under the assumptions of Theorem 3.3.1 let $\gamma_i(t)$ be an \mathcal{L} -minimizing \mathcal{L} -geodesics from (q, \bar{t}) to (p, t_i) , where $(q, \bar{t}) \in K$. Then there exists a constant G independent of i such that for all $t \in [\bar{t}, k]$

$$|\sqrt{t_i - t} \,\dot{\gamma}_i(t)|_{g(t)}^2 \le G.$$

Proof. Denote by $V_i(t) = \sqrt{t_i - t} \dot{\gamma}_i(t)$. Using the \mathcal{L} -geodesic equation (2.17) we compute

$$\frac{d}{dt}|V_{i}(t)|_{g(t)}^{2} = -2Ric(V_{i}(t), V_{i}(t)) + 2\langle \nabla_{\dot{\gamma}_{i}(t)}V_{i}(t), V_{i}(t)\rangle_{t}
= -2Ric(V_{i}(t), V_{i}(t)) + \frac{2}{\sqrt{t_{i}-t}}\langle \nabla_{V_{i}(t)}V_{i}(t), V_{i}(t)\rangle_{t}
= -2Ric(V_{i}(t), V_{i}(t))
+ \frac{2}{\sqrt{t_{i}-t}}\langle 2\sqrt{t_{i}-t}Ric_{g(t)}(V_{i}(t), \cdot)^{\#} + \frac{1}{2}(t_{i}-t)\nabla^{g(t)}R_{g(t)}, V_{i}(t)\rangle_{t}
= 2Ric(V_{i}(t), V_{i}(t)) + \sqrt{t_{i}-t}\langle \nabla^{g(t)}R_{g(t)}, V_{i}(t)\rangle_{t}
\leq 2\frac{C_{1}}{(T-t)^{r}}|V_{i}(t)|_{g(t)}^{2} + \frac{C_{2}}{(T-t)^{r-\frac{1}{2}}}|V_{i}(t)|_{g(t)}, \quad (3.4)$$

where in the last inequality, since $t \ge \overline{t} > 0$, we used Shi's derivative estimates [32] (see also Appendix A) combined with the type A assumption to bound $\nabla^{g(t)}R_{g(t)}$. Note that C_1, C_2 are constants depending on the type A constant C, n and \overline{t} , but are independent of *i*.

Before integrating this ordinary differential inequality to conclude the proof of the lemma, we need to get uniform bounds on each $V_i(t)$ for some t in a compact set of time. By definition of \mathcal{L} , and using again the type A assumption we estimate

$$\int_{\overline{t}}^{t_i} \frac{1}{\sqrt{t_i - t}} |V_i(t)|^2_{g(t)} dt = \mathcal{L}(\gamma_i) - \int_{\overline{t}}^{t_i} \sqrt{t_i - t} R_{g(t)}(\gamma_i(t)) dt$$
$$\leq \mathcal{L}(\gamma_i) + \frac{2C}{3 - 2r} T^{\frac{3}{2} - r}.$$

Now the integral mean value theorem yields the existence of $\hat{t}_i \in [\bar{t}, k]$, such that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\sqrt{t_i - \hat{t}_i}} |V_i(\hat{t}_i)|_{g(\hat{t}_i)}^2 &= \frac{1}{k - \bar{t}} \int_{\bar{t}}^k \frac{1}{\sqrt{t_i - t}} |V_i(t)|_{g(t)}^2 dt \\ &\leq \frac{1}{k - \bar{t}} \int_{\bar{t}}^{t_i} \frac{1}{\sqrt{t_i - t}} |V_i(t)|_{g(t)}^2 dt \\ &\leq \frac{1}{k - \bar{t}} \left(\mathcal{L}(\gamma_i) + \frac{2C}{3 - 2r} T^{\frac{3}{2} - r} \right), \end{aligned}$$

or equivalently

$$\begin{aligned} |V_{i}(\hat{t}_{i})|_{g(\hat{t}_{i})}^{2} &= \frac{\sqrt{t_{i} - \hat{t}_{i}}}{k - \bar{t}} \left(\mathcal{L}(\gamma_{i}) + \frac{2C}{3 - 2r} T^{\frac{3}{2} - r} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{T}}{k - b} \left(E + \frac{2C}{3 - 2r} T^{\frac{3}{2} - r} \right) =: F, \end{aligned}$$

since by choice of γ_i the bound (3.3) holds for $\mathcal{L}(\gamma_i)$.

W.l.o.g. we can assume that $|V_i(t)|_{g(t)} \ge 1$ and estimate (3.4) for $t \in [a,k]$ to get

$$\frac{d}{dt}|V_i(t)|^2_{g(t)} \le \left(2\frac{C_1}{(T-k)^r} + \frac{C_2}{(T-k)^{r-\frac{1}{2}}}\right)|V_i(t)|^2_{g(t)} = C_3|V_i(t)|^2_{g(t)}.$$

Integrating this, we conclude that for all $t \in [\bar{t}, k]$

$$|V_i(t)|^2_{g(t)} \le F e^{C_3(t-\hat{t}_i)} \le F e^{C_3 T} =: G.$$
(3.5)

This proves the Lemma. \Box

To get the gradient bounds for L_i recall that from (2.15)

$$\nabla^{g(t)}L_i(q,\bar{t}) = -2\sqrt{t_i - \bar{t}}\,\dot{\gamma}_i(\bar{t}).$$

With Lemma 3.3.4 we obtain for $(q, \bar{t}) \in K$

$$|\nabla^{g(t)} L_i(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})} = 2|\sqrt{t_i - \bar{t}} \dot{\gamma}_i(\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})} \le 2\sqrt{G}.$$
(3.6)

For the time derivative bound for L_i , we compute

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} L_i(q,\bar{t}) &= \frac{d}{d\bar{t}} L_i(q,\bar{t}) - \langle \nabla^{g(\bar{t})} L_i(q,\bar{t}), \dot{\gamma}_i(\bar{t}) \rangle_{\bar{t}} \\ &= -\sqrt{t_i - \bar{t}} \left(|\dot{\gamma}_i(\bar{t})|^2_{g(\bar{t})} + R_{g(\bar{t})}(\gamma(\bar{t})) \right) + 2\sqrt{t_i - \bar{t}} |\dot{\gamma}(\bar{t})|^2_{g(\bar{t})} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{t_i - \bar{t}}} \left| \sqrt{t_i - \bar{t}} \dot{\gamma}_i(\bar{t}) \right|^2_{g(\bar{t})} - \sqrt{t_i - \bar{t}} R_{g(\bar{t})}(\gamma(\bar{t})). \end{split}$$

Using the type A assumption and Lemma 3.3.4, we get the time derivative bound for $(q, \bar{t}) \in K$

$$\left|\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}}L_i(q,\bar{t})\right| \le \frac{G}{\sqrt{k-b}} + \frac{C}{\left(T-b\right)^{r-\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
(3.7)

Recall that by Remark 2.3.5 each l_i is locally Lipschitz on $M^n \times (0, t_i)$. The above bounds show that l_i are in fact uniformly locally bounded and Lipschitz on $M^n \times (0, T)$. Hence, there exists a locally Lipschitz function

$$l_{p,T}: M^n \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R}$$

such that a subsequence, denoted l_i again, converges to a $l_{p,T}$ in $C^0_{loc}(M^n \times (0,T))$. This proves the first part of the theorem.

3. To prove that the differential inequality (3.1) holds in the sense of distributions, we first note that $l_i \in W_{loc}^{1,2}(M^n \times (0,T))$ and the bounds derived above imply

$$|l_i|_{W^{1,2}_{loc}(M^n \times (0,T))} < C$$

W.l.o.g. we can assume that

$$l_i \rightarrow l_{p,T}$$
 (3.8)

weakly in $W_{loc}^{1,2}(M^n \times (0,T))$. This implies for all $(V,\psi) \in W_{loc}^{1,2}(M^n \times (0,T), \mathbb{R}^{n+1})$

$$\int_0^T \int_M \nabla^{g(t)} l_i \cdot V + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} l_i \psi \, dvol_{g(t)} dt \to \int_0^T \int_M \nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,T} \cdot V + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} l_{p,T} \psi \, dvol_{g(t)} dt$$

In particular, if for nonnegative $\phi \in C_{cpt}^{\infty}(M^n \times (0,T))$, we let $\psi = -\phi$ and $V = \nabla^{g(t)}\phi$, we get the distributional convergence

$$\int_0^T \int_M \nabla^{g(t)} l_i \cdot \nabla^{g(t)} \phi - \frac{\partial}{\partial t} l_i \phi \, dvol_{g(t)} dt$$
$$\rightarrow \int_0^T \int_M \nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,T} \cdot \nabla^{g(t)} \phi - \frac{\partial}{\partial t} l_{p,T} \phi \, dvol_{g(t)} dt$$

Comparing with the distributional formulation (2.22), we see that we now only need to show that for all nonnegative $\phi \in C_{cpt}^{\infty}(M^n \times (0,T))$

$$\int_0^T \int_M |\nabla^{g(t)} l_i|_{g(t)}^2 \phi \, dvol_{g(t)} dt \to \int_0^T \int_M |\nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,T}|_{g(t)}^2 \phi \, dvol_{g(t)} dt.$$

It suffices to show for each $t \in (0,T)$ and nonnegative $\phi \in C^{\infty}_{cpt}(M^n)$

$$\int_{M} |\nabla^{g(t)} l_i|^2_{g(t)} \,\phi \, dvol_{g(t)} \to \int_{M} |\nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,T}|^2_{g(t)} \,\phi \, dvol_{g(t)}.$$

(3.8) implies the weak L^2 convergence of $\sqrt{\phi} \nabla^{g(t)} l_i \rightharpoonup \sqrt{\phi} \nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,T}$, and hence

$$\int_{M} |\nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,T}|_{g(t)}^2 \phi \, dvol_{g(t)} \leq \liminf_{i \to \infty} \int_{M} |\nabla^{g(t)} l_i|_{g(t)}^2 \phi \, dvol_{g(t)}.$$

We now show the other direction

$$\limsup_{i \to \infty} \int_M |\nabla^{g(t)} l_i|_{g(t)}^2 \phi \, dvol_{g(t)} \le \int_M |\nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,T}|_{g(t)}^2 \phi \, dvol_{g(t)}$$

using an argument similar to Lemma 9.21 in [22]. We rewrite

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \sup_{M} \int_{M} \left(|\nabla^{g(t)} l_{i}|_{g(t)}^{2} - |\nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,T}|_{g(t)}^{2} \right) \phi \, dvol_{g(t)}$$

$$= \lim_{i \to \infty} \sup_{i \to \infty} \left(\int_{M} \langle \nabla^{g(t)} (l_{i} - l_{p,T}), \phi \nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,T} \rangle_{t} \, dvol_{g(t)} + \int_{M} \langle \nabla^{g(t)} (l_{i} - l_{p,T}), \phi \nabla^{g(t)} l_{i} \rangle_{t} \, dvol_{g(t)} \right).$$

$$(3.9)$$

We can approximate $\phi \nabla^{g(t)} l_{p,T}$ by $V_j \in C^{\infty}_{cpt}(M, \mathbb{R}^n)$ and conclude by weak L^2 convergence of $\nabla^{g(t)} l_i$ that the first integral goes to zero as $i \to \infty$. For the second integral, we first use the C^0_{loc} - convergence of $l_i \to l_{p,T}$ to get a sequence $\epsilon_i \searrow 0$, such that on $\operatorname{supp}(\phi)$ we have

$$l_{p,T} - l_i + \epsilon_i > 0.$$

Then the second integral above equals

$$\limsup_{i\to\infty}\int_M \langle \nabla^{g(t)}(l_i-l_{p,T}-\epsilon_i), \phi \nabla^{g(t)}l_i \rangle_t \, dvol_{g(t)}.$$

We multiply Perelman's differential inequality (2.20) for l_i by ϕ and write it in the distributional sense for a nonnegative $\psi \in C_{cpt}^{\infty}(M^n)$:

$$-\int_{M} \langle \nabla^{g(t)}(\psi\phi), \nabla^{g(t)}l_i \rangle_t \, dvol_{g(t)} \leq \int_{M} \frac{\psi\phi}{2} \big(|\nabla^{g(t)}l_i|_{g(t)}^2 - R_{g(t)} - \frac{l_i - n}{t_i - t} \big) dvol_{g(t)}.$$
By approximation in $W^{1,2}$, we can take $\psi = l_{p,T} - l_i + \epsilon_i \ge 0$ to be only locally Lipschitz, i.e. conclude

$$\int_{M} \langle \nabla^{g(t)} ((l_i - l_{p,T} - \epsilon_i)\phi), \nabla^{g(t)} l_i \rangle_t \, dvol_{g(t)} \\ \leq \int_{M} \frac{(l_{p,T} - l_i + \epsilon_i)\phi}{2} (|\nabla^{g(t)} l_i|_{g(t)}^2 - R_{g(t)} - \frac{l_i - n}{t_i - t}) dvol_{g(t)}.$$

Since the right-hand integrand is bounded on $supp(\phi)$ and

$$l_{p,T} - l_i + \epsilon_i \to 0$$

uniformly, we obtain

$$\limsup_{i \to \infty} \int_{M} \langle \nabla^{g(t)} ((l_i - l_{p,T} - \epsilon_i)\phi), \nabla^{g(t)} l_i \rangle_t \, dvol_{g(t)} \leq 0.$$

Now, inserting the characteristic function $\chi_{supp(\phi)}$, we can rewrite

$$\begin{split} &\int_{M} \langle \nabla^{g(t)} \left((l_{i} - l_{p,T} - \epsilon_{i})\phi \right), \nabla^{g(t)} l_{i} \rangle_{t} \, dvol_{g(t)} \\ &= \int_{M} \langle \nabla^{g(t)} (l_{i} - l_{p,T} - \epsilon_{i})\phi, \nabla^{g(t)} l_{i} \rangle_{t} \, dvol_{g(t)} \\ &+ \int_{M} \langle (l_{i} - l_{p,T} - \epsilon_{i}) \nabla^{g(t)}\phi, \chi_{supp(\phi)} \nabla^{g(t)} l_{i} \rangle_{t} \, dvol_{g(t)} \\ &= \int_{M} \langle \nabla^{g(t)} (l_{i} - l_{p,T}), \phi \nabla^{g(t)} l_{i} \rangle_{t} \, dvol_{g(t)} \\ &+ \int_{M} \frac{1}{2} (l_{i} - l_{p,T} - \epsilon_{i}) (|\nabla^{g(t)}\phi|_{g(t)}^{2} + |\chi_{supp(\phi)} \nabla^{g(t)} l_{i}|_{g(t)}^{2}) \, dvol_{g(t)}. \end{split}$$

As before, the last integral tends to zero because of the uniform convergence of

$$l_{p,T} - l_i + \epsilon_i \to 0.$$

This implies that the second term in (3.9) satisfies

$$\limsup_{i \to \infty} \int_{M} \langle \nabla^{g(t)}(l_i - l_{p,T}), \phi \nabla^{g(t)} l_i \rangle_t \, dvol_{g(t)} \le 0$$

and finishes the proof. \Box

The proof of Theorem 3.3.1 implies that the analogues of the differential (in)equalities (2.20) and (2.21) hold for a reduced distance based at singular time as well. We summarize this in the the following

Corollary 3.3.5 For $l_{p,T}$ as in Theorem 3.3.1 and $(q,\bar{t}) \in M^n \times (0,T)$, the following three (in)equalities hold:

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) - \Delta_{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{n}{2(T-\bar{t})} \ge 0, \quad (3.10)$$

or equivalently,
$$\Box_{g(\bar{t})}^* v_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) \le 0.$$
(3.11)

$$-|\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^{2} + R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) - n}{T - \bar{t}} + 2\Delta_{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) \le 0.$$
(3.12)

$$-2\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}}l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t})}{T-\bar{t}} = 0.$$
(3.13)

3.4 Reduced volume monotonicity based at singular time

Definition 3.4.1 Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a Ricci flow on [0, T) of type A. Let $p \in M^n$, $t_i \nearrow T$, and $l_{p,T}$ and $v_{p,T}$ as in Theorem 3.3.1. Then we define a reduced volume based at singular time (p, T) by

$$\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) := \int_{M} v_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q) = \int_{M} \left((4\pi(T-\bar{t}))^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t})} dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q) \right)$$

Remark 3.4.2 The finiteness of $\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t})$ for any Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ of type A and any fixed $\bar{t} \in (0,T)$ follows from Fatou's lemma and the finiteness of Perelman's reduced volume as follows:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) &= \int_{M} \left((4\pi (T-\bar{t}))^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-\lim_{t_{i}} r_{i}} I_{p,t_{i}}(q,\bar{t}) dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q) \right. \\ &= \int_{M} \lim_{t_{i}} r_{i} \int_{T} \left(\left((4\pi (T-\bar{t}))^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{p,t_{i}}(q,\bar{t})} \right) dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q) \right. \\ &\leq \liminf_{t_{i}} \tilde{V}_{p,t_{i}}(\bar{t}) \\ &\leq 1. \end{split}$$

Now we state the analogue of Perelman's monotonicity (Corollary 2.4.3) for the reduced volume based at singular time. Compare also Figure 3.3.

Corollary 3.4.3 (Monotonicity based at singular time)

Under the assumptions as in Definition 3.4.1 we have

- (i) $\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{V}_{p,T}(t) \ge 0$,
- (*ii*) $\lim_{\bar{t}\nearrow T} \tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) \leq 1$,
- (iii) If $\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}_1) = \tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}_2)$ for $0 < \bar{t}_1 < \bar{t}_2 < T$, then $(M^n, g(t), l_{p,T}(\cdot, t))$ is a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form.

Remark 3.4.4 Similar results have also been obtained in [23] under the type I assumption (and κ -noncollapsedness).



Figure 3.3: Reduced volume monotonicity based at singular time (p,T) for some Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ on [0, T).

Proof. (i) If M^n is compact and $l_{p,T}$ is smooth the proof follows directly from (3.2) in Theorem 3.3.1:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) = \int_{M} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}}v_{p,T} - R\right) dvol_{g(\bar{t})} \\
= \int_{M} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}}v_{p,T} + \Delta v_{p,T} - R\right) dvol_{g(\bar{t})} \\
= \int_{M} -\Box^{*}v_{p,T} dvol_{g(\bar{t})} \\
\geq 0.$$
(3.14)

In the general case, we need to justify the differentiation under the integral and the adding in of the Laplacian term. For both arguments, we need to bound

$$\int_{M} e^{-l_{p,T}} |l_{p,T}| dvol_{g(\bar{t})} < \infty$$
(3.15)

for fixed time $\bar{t} \in (0, T)$. From Remark 3.4.2, we know that

$$\int_{M} e^{-l_{p,T}} dvol_{g(\bar{t})} < \infty, \quad \text{and hence} \quad \int_{M} e^{-|l_{p,T}|} dvol_{g(\bar{t})} < \infty.$$

Since the proof of the finiteness of Perelman's reduced volume V_{p,t_i} relies on comparison of the reduced distance l_{p,t_i} with the square of the distance function, we also get

$$\int_{M} e^{-\frac{1}{2}l_{p,T}} dvol_{g(\bar{t})} < \infty, \quad \text{and hence} \quad \int_{M} e^{-\frac{1}{2}|l_{p,T}|} dvol_{g(\bar{t})} < \infty.$$

Now let $N := \{q \in M \mid l_{p,T}(q, \overline{t}) \ge 0\}$. Then

$$\int_{M} e^{-l_{p,T}} |l_{p,T}| dvol_{g(\bar{t})} = \int_{M-N} e^{-l_{p,T}} |l_{p,T}| dvol_{g(\bar{t})} + \int_{N} e^{-|l_{p,T}|} |l_{p,T}| dvol_{g(\bar{t})},$$

where the second term is finite since $\frac{1}{2}|l_{p,T}| \leq e^{\frac{1}{2}|l_{p,T}|}$. The first integral is bounded because the type A curvature bound yields an upper bound on $|l_{p,T}|$ on N by dropping the energy part in the \mathcal{L} -functional. This proves (3.15).

The proof of Lemma 3.3.4 implies that in fact there exist constants C_1 and C_2 (depending on \bar{t}) such that

$$|\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T}|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 \le C_1 |l_{p,T}| + C_2$$

(Note that $L_{p,T}$ gets bounded on compact sets by the constant E in that proof.) This implies

$$\int_{M} e^{-l_{p,T}} |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T}|^{2}_{g(\bar{t})} dvol_{g(\bar{t})} < \infty.$$
(3.16)

We lastly show that also

$$\int_{M} e^{-l_{p,T}} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{p,T} \right| dvol_{g(\bar{t})} < \infty.$$
(3.17)

The differential equality (3.13)

$$-2\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}}l_{p,T} + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,T}|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})} + \frac{l_{p,T}}{T - \bar{t}} = 0$$

can be used to bound $|\frac{\partial}{\partial t}l_{p,T}|$. Then (3.17) follows from (3.15) and (3.16) and the bounded curvature assumption.

Now we can justify what corresponds to the adding in of the Laplacian term in (3.14) in the distributional setting. As in (2.22), Theorem 3.3.1 implies that for fixed $\bar{t} \in (0,T)$ and for any nonnegative $\phi \in C_{cpt}^{\infty}(M^n)$

$$\int_{M} \left(\left(-\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{p,T} + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T}|_{g(\bar{t})}^{2} - R_{g(\bar{t})} + \frac{n}{2(T-\bar{t})} \right) \phi + \nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T} \cdot \nabla^{g(\bar{t})} \phi \right) dvol_{g(\bar{t})} \ge 0.$$

Note that

$$\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}(e^{-l_{p,T}}) = -e^{-l_{p,T}}\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,T},$$

so using the bounds for the integrals proved above and approximating $\phi = e^{-l_{p,T}}$ by $\phi_j \in C^{\infty}_{cpt}(M^n)$, we conclude

$$\int_{M} \left(-\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{p,T} - R_{g(\bar{t})} + \frac{n}{2(T-\bar{t})} \right) e^{-l_{p,T}} dvol_{g(\bar{t})} \ge 0.$$

Up to the factor of $(4\pi(T-\bar{t}))^{-\frac{n}{2}}$ this is the integral we obtain when differentiating the integrand in the reduced volume based at (p,T). To conclude (i), we only have to justify the differentiation under the integral sign. We will do so using the standard dominated convergence argument. We bound, at $\bar{t} \in (0,T)$, the reduced volume integrand difference quotient $D(q, \bar{t}, h)$, rewritten in integral form, by an integrable function. Note that

$$D(q, \bar{t}, h) = \frac{1}{h} \int_0^h \left(-\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{p,T}(q, \bar{t} + s) - R_{g(\bar{t} + s)}(q) + \frac{n}{2(T - \bar{t} - s)} \right) \left(4\pi (T - \bar{t} - s) \right)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{p,T}(q, \bar{t} + s)} \frac{dvol_{g(\bar{t} + s)}(q)}{dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q)} ds$$

(compare e.g. [6] for the argument in Perelman's case). Now from Remark 3.4.2 and the bound (3.17) as well as the exponential growth bound of the volume form under Ricci flow, which makes the quotient

$$\frac{dvol_{g(\bar{t}+s)}(q)}{dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q)}$$

bounded near \bar{t} (where we have bounded curvature), we conclude that $D(q, \bar{t}, h)$ is dominated by an integrable function for h near 0.

(ii) This follows from (i) and Remark 3.4.2.

(iii) From the initial computation in (i), which we have justified for noncompact M^n and in the distributional setting, we get

$$0 = \tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}_2) - \tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}_1) = \int_{\bar{t}_1}^{\bar{t}_2} \frac{d}{d\bar{t}} \tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) d\bar{t} = \int_{\bar{t}_1}^{\bar{t}_2} \int_M -\Box^* v_{p,T} dv ol_{g(\bar{t})} d\bar{t}.$$

From (3.2) we conclude that in the sense of distributions

$$\Box^* v_{p,T} \equiv 0, \tag{3.18}$$

and hence by parabolic regularity $l_{p,T}$ is smooth. Recall equation (3.13)

$$-2\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}}l_{p,T} + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,T}|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})} + \frac{l_{p,T}}{T - \bar{t}} \equiv 0$$

Subtracting $2 \cdot (3.18)$ from this, we get

$$w_{p,T} := \left((T - \bar{t})(2\Delta_{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,T} - |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}l_{p,T}|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 + R_{g(\bar{t})}) + l_{p,T} - n \right) v_{p,T} \equiv 0.$$

Hence,

$$0 \equiv \Box_{g(\bar{t})}^{*} w_{p,T} = -2(T-\bar{t}) \left| Ric_{g(\bar{t})} + \nabla^{g(\bar{t})} \nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T} - \frac{1}{2(T-\bar{t})} g(\bar{t}) \right|_{g(\bar{t})}^{2} v_{p,T},$$

where the last equality follows from a formal computation as in Proposition 9.1 [26]. Because of $v_{p,T} > 0$, we conclude

$$Ric_{g(\bar{t})} + \nabla^{g(\bar{t})} \nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T} - \frac{1}{2(T-\bar{t})} g(\bar{t}) = 0.$$
(3.19)

Plugging the trace of (3.19) into (3.18), we obtain

$$\frac{\partial l_{p,T}}{\partial \bar{t}} = |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,T}(\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^2.$$
(3.20)

By Remark 2.2.4, this implies that $(M^n, g(t), l_{p,T}(\cdot, t))$ is a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form. \Box

Remark 3.4.5 We will discuss some issues arising with the inverse of the statement in Corollary 3.4.3 (iii) in Section 3.6.

3.5 Examples

3.5.1 Einstein solutions

For Einstein solutions $(M^n, g(t))$ on (0, T) with $R_{g(0)} > 0$ as in Example 2.2.1, it follows from an explicit computation (see [6]) that for $(p, t_0) \in M^n \times (0, T)$

$$l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) = \frac{n}{2} \left(1 - \frac{\arctan\sqrt{\frac{t_0 - \bar{t}}{T - t_0}}}{\sqrt{\frac{t_0 - \bar{t}}{T - t_0}}} \right) + \frac{d_{\bar{t}}^2(p,q)}{4(T - \bar{t})\sqrt{\frac{t_0 - \bar{t}}{T - t_0}} \arctan\sqrt{\frac{t_0 - \bar{t}}{T - t_0}}.$$
 (3.21)

We can easily conclude the following: if $t_i \nearrow T$, then

$$l_{p,t_i} \rightarrow \frac{n}{2}$$

uniformly on $M^n \times [0,T)$. In particular, any reduced distance based at any (p,T) is given by

$$l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}) = \frac{n}{2}.$$
(3.22)

Then the differential inequalities in Corollary 3.3.5 become equalities for the constant function $l_{p,T}$, because of equation (2.5). In particular, $\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) \equiv const$. Let us compute its value using (2.3):

$$\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) = (4\pi(T-\bar{t}))^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-\frac{n}{2}} Vol(g(\bar{t}))
= (4\pi eT)^{-\frac{n}{2}} Vol(g_0)
= (\frac{R_{g_0}}{2\pi en})^{\frac{n}{2}} Vol(g_0)$$
(3.23)

For the standard shrinking round *n*-sphere (S^n, g_{S^n}) , we therefore get

$$\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) = \left(\frac{n(n-1)}{2\pi e n}\right)^{\frac{n}{2}} Vol(g_{S^n}) = \left(\frac{n-1}{2\pi e}\right)^{\frac{n}{2}} Vol(g_{S^n})$$

In the following proposition, we show that the condition $l_{p,T} \equiv \frac{n}{2}$ characterizes Einstein solutions uniquely.

Proposition 3.5.1 Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a maximal type A Ricci flow on [0, T), $p \in M^n$ and $l_{p,T}$ a reduced distance based at singular time (p, T). Then we have the following:

(i) If $l_{p,T} \equiv c$ on $M^n \times (0,T)$, then $R_{g(t)} = \frac{c}{T-t}$, $c \leq \frac{n}{2}$, and M^n is compact. (ii) $l_{p,T} \equiv \frac{n}{2}$ if and only if $(M^n, g(t))$ is a (compact) Einstein solution with

 $R_{g_0} > 0.$

Proof. (i) It follows directly from (3.13) that $R_{g(t)} = \frac{c}{T-t}$, and combined with (3.1) that $c \leq \frac{n}{2}$. The compactness of M^n follows from the finiteness of $\tilde{V}_{p,T}$ by Remark 3.4.2.

(ii) We have seen for Einstein solutions $l_{p,T} \equiv \frac{n}{2}$. On the other hand, if $l_{p,T} \equiv \frac{n}{2}$, then it follows from (i) that (3.1) becomes an equality, and from the proof of Corollary 3.4.3 that the corresponding reduced volume $\tilde{V}_{p,T}$ is constant. We conclude $(M^n, g(t))$ is a gradient shrinking soliton with potential function $\frac{n}{2}$, i.e.

$$Ric_{g(t)} = \frac{1}{2(T-t)}g(t). \quad \Box$$

3.5.2 Gradient shrinking solitons

Recall from equation (2.11) that the potential f(t) of a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$ satisfies the differential equality

$$-\frac{\partial f}{\partial t} - \Delta_{g(t)}f(t) + |\nabla^{g(t)}f(t)|^2_{g(t)} - R_{g(t)} + \frac{n}{2(T-t)} = 0.$$

Since by Theorem 3.3.1 the reduced distance based at singular time $l_{p,T}$ for some $p \in M^n$ satisfies the same relation as an inequality, it is natural to attempt to relate f(t) and $l_{p,T}(\cdot, t)$.

Before we proceed, we discuss a normalization of the soliton potential, which preserves its canonical form. Let $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$ be a complete gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form on $(-\infty, T)$ with bounded curvature. Recall equation (2.14):

$$R_{g(t)} + |\nabla^{g(t)} f(t)|_{g(t)}^2 - \frac{f(t)}{T-t} = C(t)$$

We can use this equation to normalize the soliton potential f(t), a thought which was triggered in discussions with Xiaodong Wang. To keep the soliton in canonical form, however, we only **normalize** such that

$$R_{g(T-1)} + |\nabla^{g(T-1)}f(T-1)|_{g(T-1)}^2 - f(T-1) = 0, \qquad (3.24)$$

and replace the original soliton potential f(t) by the gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form obtained from f(T-1), as discussed in Remark 2.2.4. From here on, we will assume a given gradient shrinking soliton is normalized by (3.24). **Remark 3.5.2** We note the gradient shrinking solitons in canonical form $(M^n, g(t), l_{p,T}(\cdot, t))$ arising in the equality case of the reduced volume based at singular time (p,T) are in fact normalized for all $t \in (0,T)$, i.e. satisfy

$$R_{g(t)} + |\nabla^{g(t)}l_{p,T}(\cdot,t)|_{g(t)}^2 - \frac{l_{p,T}(\cdot,t)}{T-t} = 0.$$

This follows directly by plugging (3.20) into (3.13).

We will next show that for compact gradient shrinking solitons $f = l_{p,T}$ holds.

Theorem 3.5.3 Let $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$ be a compact normalized gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form on $(-\infty, T)$, and let $p \in M$. If $l_{p,T}$ is a reduced distance based at singular time (p, T), then it is independent of p and

$$l_{p,T}(\cdot,t) = f(t).$$

Remark 3.5.4 While the theorem is mentioned in the literature [10], [3], we are not aware of any published proof. There are however results [6] using an alternative definition of a reduced distance based at singular time l, which we will briefly discuss in Section 6.1. The results can be improved to obtain f = l, rather than f = l + c, when using the above normalization. Our proof utilizes techniques from Section 4.1.

Proof. We know from (2.7) that

$$g(t) = (T - t)\phi_t^* g(T - 1).$$
(3.25)

In particular g(t) is of type I. For $p \in M^n$, let $l_{p,T}$ and $\tilde{V}_{p,T}$ a reduced distance and corresponding reduced volume based at singular time, respectively. We refer to Section 4.1 for more details of the following argument: For $t_j \nearrow T$, consider the rescaled metrics pointed at p and compute using (3.25):

$$g_{j}(t) = \frac{1}{T - t_{j}} g(T + (T - t_{j})t)$$

= $\frac{1}{T - t_{j}} (T - (T + (T - t_{j})t)) \phi_{T + (T - t_{j})t}^{*} g(T - 1)$
= $-t \phi_{T + (T - t_{j})t}^{*} g(T - 1).$

With the definition of Cheeger-Gromov convergence, this implies that the rescaling limit $(M_{\infty}^n, g_{\infty}(t), p_{\infty})$ is compact. In particular, we can assume $M_{\infty}^n = M^n$ and $p_{\infty} = p$.

Next, note that $g_j(-1) = \phi_{t_j}^* g(T-1)$, i.e.

$$g_j(-1) \cong g(T-1)$$

are isometric for all j. We can therefore identify the reduced distances defined on the rescaled metrics by

$$l_{p,0}^{j}(q,\bar{t}) := l_{p,T}(q,T + (T - t_{j})\bar{t})$$

using the diffeomorphism. After shifting time from T to 0, we have

$$l_{p,0}^j \cong l_{p,T}.$$

Next, we conclude by Cheeger-Gromov convergence

$$g_{\infty}(-1) \cong g(T-1),$$

which gives us the identification

$$l_{p,0}^{\infty} \cong l_{p,T},$$

where $l_{p,0}^{\infty}$ is the limit as extracted in Section 4.1 from the reduced distances based at singular time $l_{p,0}^{j}$ of the rescaled metrics. By Theorem 4.1.3, $(M_{\infty}^{n}, g_{\infty}(t), l_{p,0}^{\infty}(\cdot, t)) \cong (M^{n}, g(t), l_{p,T}(\cdot, t))$ is a normalized gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form.

To see $l_{p,T}(\cdot, t) = f(t)$, note that both potentials satisfy equation (2.8) for the same Ricci flow. Hence, hence

$$\nabla^{g(t)} \nabla^{g(t)} (l_{p,T}(\cdot,t) - f(t)) = 0.$$

As observed by Xiaodong Wang, this implies $l_{p,T}(\cdot, t) = f(t) + c$, unless the manifold splits off a line in the direction of $\nabla^{g(t)}(l_{p,T}(\cdot, t) - f(t))$, which we can exclude since we assumed compactness of M^n . Since both soliton potentials are normalized, we conclude

$$l_{p,T}(\,\cdot\,,t)=f(t).\quad \Box$$

Given a normalized complete gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$, in general for a base point $p \in M^n$ and a reduced distance $l_{p,T}$ based at singular time, we cannot expect to conclude $f(t) = l_{p,T}(\cdot, t)$. The following example (see also Figure 3.4) illustrates, that the choice of base point p is one issue.

Example 3.5.5 Let $(N^{n-k}, g_N(t)), 0 < k < n-1$ be an Einstein solution on $(-\infty, T)$ with $R_{g_0} > 0$. As in Example 2.2.8, we consider the normalized gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form given by

$$\big(N^{n-k}\times \mathbb{R}^k,\,g(t)=g_N(t)+g_{\mathbb{R}^k},\,f(\theta,x,t)=\frac{|x|^2_{g_{\mathbb{R}^k}}}{4(T-t)}+\frac{n-k}{2}\big),$$

where $\theta \in N^{n-k}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$. Note that the constant $\frac{n-k}{2}$ normalizes the soliton by equation (3.24).

We can then conclude by the obvious additivity of the \mathcal{L} -distance for product manifolds, as well as Example 2.4.2 and (3.22), that for $p = (\theta_0, x_0)$ and $q = (\theta, x) \in N^{n-k} \times \mathbb{R}^k$

$$l_{p,T}(q,t) = \frac{n-k}{2} + \frac{|x-x_0|_{\mathbb{R}^k}^2}{4(T-t)}.$$

Hence, the equality $f(t) = l_{p,T}(\cdot, t)$ holds if and only if we choose the base point $p \in N^{n-k} \times \{0\}.$

Using Example 2.4.2 and (3.23), the corresponding reduced volume based at

singular time can be directly computed:

$$\tilde{V}_{p,T}(t) = \int_{N^{n-k}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{k}} (4\pi(T-t))^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{p,T}(\theta,x,t)} dvol_{g_{N}(t)}(\theta) dx^{k}
= \int_{N^{n-k}} (4\pi(T-t))^{-\frac{n-k}{2}} e^{-\frac{n-k}{2}} dvol_{g_{N}(t)}
\cdot \int_{\mathbb{R}^{k}} (4\pi(T-t))^{-\frac{k}{2}} e^{-\frac{|x-x_{0}|^{2}}{4(T-t)}} dx^{k}$$
(3.26)

$$= \left(\frac{R_{g_0}}{2\pi en}\right)^{\frac{n-\kappa}{2}} Vol(g_0) \tag{3.27}$$

In particular, it is constant in t, independent of the base point p and the sequence $\{t_i\}$ used to define $l_{p,T}$, as well as equal to the reduced volume based at singular time for the Einstein part $(N^{n-k}, g_N(t))$ of the soliton.

We also make the observation that while $f \neq l_{p,T}$, we do have

$$\tilde{V}_{p,T}(t) = \int_{N^{n-k}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^k} \left(4\pi (T-t) \right)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-f(\theta,x,t)} \, dvol_{g_N(t)}(\theta) \, dx^k, \tag{3.28}$$

so in examples of this kind, we can define the reduced volume in terms of the soliton potential.



Figure 3.4: Einstein solution on $N^{n-k} \times \mathbb{R}^k$ as an example of a normalized gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form with $f(t) \neq l_{p,T}(\cdot, t) + c$.

While the choice of a suitable base point p in the very special Example 3.5.5 is obvious, that choice of base point $p \in M^n$ such that $f = l_{p,T}$ might not even exist for general complete gradient shrinking solitons, but depend on the structure of the soliton, and in particular the critical points of f.

For complete gradient shrinking solitons with quadratic curvature decay and noncollapsedness assumption, which converge to an incomplete metric cone which is smooth away from the parabolic vertex (consisting of a collapsed compact set), Cao, Hamilton and Ilmanen state in [3] that the reduced distance and volume based at singular time are well-defined. Also, this reduced volume is constant. They use this result to define a notion of density for such shrinking solitons, which we generalize to type A solutions in Section 4.2.

3.6 The inverse of Corollary 3.4.3 (iii)

Recall that Corollary 3.4.3 (iii) stated that if a reduced volume based at singular time is constant, the corresponding Ricci flow is a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form (which is in fact normalized).

The inverse statement holds, whenever for some $p \in M^n$, we have $f = l_{p,T}$. More generally, the following is true:

Proposition 3.6.1 If $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$ is a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form on $(-\infty, T)$, and $f(t) = l_{p,T}(\cdot, t) + c$ for some $p \in M^n, c \in \mathbb{R}$, then $\tilde{V}_{p,T}(t)$ is constant in t.

Proof. From Example 3.2.2, we get that the type A assumption is satisfied. Since $l_{p,T} = f$ is smooth, the inequality (3.1) becomes the equality (2.11), i.e.

$$\Box_{g(t)}^* v_{p,T} = 0$$

From the arguments in the proof of Corollary 3.4.3 (i), we conclude

$$\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{V}_{p,T}(t)=0. \quad \Box$$

Remark 3.6.2 As discussed in Section 3.5.2, compact gradient shrinking solitons in canonical form will satisfy the assumptions of the proposition for any $p \in M^n$, even without being normalized. Similarly, this is the case for solitons of the form in Example 3.5.5 with the correct choice of base point, as well as the ones in [3].

CHAPTER 4

Applications of monotonicity based at singular time

One of the main applications of monotone quantities in geometric evolution equations is the analysis of singularities. We will first show in Section 4.1 how the notion of a reduced distance based at singular time can be used to model type I singularities by gradient shrinking solitons. Results of that kind are very important, as they reduce the study of singularities in the Ricci flow to the classification of gradient shrinking solitons.

In Section 4.2, based on the reduced volume and its extension to singular time, we will define a notion of density for any point in space-time in the Ricci flow. This is motivated by the Gaussian density in mean curvature flow based on Huisken's monotonicity formula [20] [34], which can abstractly be regarded as an analogue to the monotonicity of a reduced volume based at singular time.

4.1 Rescaling limits of type I Ricci flows are gradient shrinking solitons

We will describe in this section one of the main motivations for extending the notion of the reduced distance to singular time, as done in Chapter 3.

Let $(M^n, g(t)), t \in [0, T), T < \infty$ be a complete maximal type I Ricci flow, and let $p \in M^n$. We rescale the flow parabolically: Let $t_j \nearrow T$ and consider the sequence of pointed 1-parameter families of Riemannian manifolds $(M^n, g_j(t), p)$, where

$$g_j(t) := \frac{1}{T - t_j} g(T + (T - t_j)t).$$
(4.1)

Then $g_j(t)$ is a Ricci flow on $\left[-\frac{T}{T-t_j}, 0\right)$ for each j. Because of the type I curvature bound, we have at any $x \in M^n$ that

$$|Rm_{g_{j}(t)}|_{g_{j}(t)}(x) = (T - t_{j})|Rm_{g(T + (T - t_{j})t)}|_{g(T + (T - t_{j})t)}(x)$$

$$\leq (T - t_{j})\frac{C}{T - (T + (T - t_{j})t)}$$

$$= \frac{C}{t}.$$
(4.2)

This gives a uniform curvature bound on compact subsets of $(-\infty, 0)$. Together with Perelman's no local collapsing theorem (which here also holds for complete M^n because of the uniform (in t) lower bound on the reduced volume as described below), we can use the Cheeger-Gromov-Hamilton Compactness Theorem B.0.2 to extract a complete pointed subsequential limit Ricci flow $(M^n_{\infty}, g_{\infty}(t), p_{\infty})$ on $(-\infty, 0)$, which is still type I. An example of the convergence of rescales around a neckpinch to a shrinking cylinder is shown in Figure 4.1.

As ancient solutions are expected to have a very special structure, Hamilton [18] conjectured (under a different rescaling procedure) that $(M_{\infty}^n, g_{\infty}(t))$ is a gradient shrinking soliton.



Figure 4.1: Parabolic rescalings $(M^n, g_j(t))$ of a neckpinch $(M^n, g(t))$ and pointed Cheeger-Gromov-Hamilton convergence near a singular point p to a shrinking cylinder $(M^n, g_\infty(t))$.

In general, M_{∞}^n and M^n are different smooth manifolds. The definition of Cheeger-Gromov convergence implies that if M_{∞}^n is compact, then in fact $M_{\infty}^n = M^n$. It follows from [29], that Hamilton's conjecture holds in this case:

Theorem 4.1.1 The rescaling limit $(M_{\infty}^n, g_{\infty}(t))$ obtained as described above is a gradient shrinking soliton, if M_{∞}^n is compact.

The proof uses the monotonicity of Perelman's entropy functional, which is only defined on compact manifolds.

We will now describe our idea on how to use the monotonicity of a reduced volume based at singular time to obtain a proof of the conjecture without the very restrictive assumption of M_{∞}^n being compact: Let $l_{p,T}$ be any reduced distance based at singular time (p,T) for the Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ on [0,T) as defined in Chapter 3. For each $(q,\bar{t}) \in M^n \times (-\infty, 0)$, consider for large enough j

$$l_{p,0}^{j}(q,\bar{t}) := l_{p,T}(q,T + (T - t_{j})\bar{t}),$$
(4.3)

which is a reduced distance based at singular time (p, 0) for the Ricci flow $(M^n, g_j(t))$ on $\left[-\frac{T}{T-t_j}, 0\right)$ because of the scaling properties of the reduced distance.

$$\tilde{V}_{p,0}^{j}(\bar{t}) = \tilde{V}_{p,T}(T + (T - t_j)\bar{t}).$$
(4.4)

We can conclude from (4.4) that

$$\tilde{V}_{p,0}^j \xrightarrow{j \to \infty} \lim_{t \nearrow T} \tilde{V}_{p,T}(t)$$

uniformly on compact subsets of $(-\infty, 0)$. Hence by Corollary 3.4.3, $\tilde{V}_{p,0}^{j}$ converge to a constant in (0, 1]. Figure 4.2 illustrates this convergence.



Figure 4.2: Convergence of the rescaled reduced volumes $\tilde{V}_{p,0}^{j}$ based at singular time to the constant $\lim_{t \neq T} \tilde{V}_{p,T}(t)$.

We would like to conclude that there exists a locally Lipschitz function $l_{p_{\infty},0}^{\infty}$ on the limit manifold $M_{\infty}^n \times (-\infty, 0)$, such that

$$l_{p,0}^j \xrightarrow{C_{loc}^0} l_{p_\infty,0}^\infty$$

and which satisfies the differential (in)equalities of Corollary 3.3.5. Since its corresponding formal reduced volume $V_{p\infty,0}^{\infty}$ is constant, those are equalities for $l_{p\infty,0}^{\infty}$, and we can conclude that $(M_{\infty}^{n}, g_{\infty}(t), l_{p\infty,0}^{\infty}(\cdot, t))$ is a normalized gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form. To do this, we need uniform bounds on the sequence of functions $l_{p,0}^{j}$, as in the proof of Theorem 3.3.1. However, those bounds must survive under Cheeger-Gromov convergence.

In [23], this problem has been worked on independently, and estimates have been derived to define a "singular reduced length", which is a reduced distance based at singular time as we constructed in Section 3.3. Those estimates are derived by

comparison with a minimizing geodesic, and hence, are in terms of the Riemannian distance away from the singular time. As such, they are preserved under Cheeger-Gromov convergence. In our notation, they read as follows:

Theorem 4.1.2 Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a complete type I Ricci flow on [0, T), and let $(p, t_0) \in M^n \times [0, T)$. Then there exist C > 0 (only dependent on n and the type I constant) such that

$$(i) \quad \frac{1}{C} (1 + \frac{d_{\bar{t}}(p,q)}{\sqrt{t_0 - \bar{t}}})^2 - C \le l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \le C (1 + \frac{d_{\bar{t}}(p,q)}{\sqrt{t_0 - \bar{t}}})^2,$$

$$(ii) \quad |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}(q) \le \frac{C}{\sqrt{t_0 - \bar{t}}} (1 + \frac{d_{\bar{t}}(p,q)}{\sqrt{t_0 - \bar{t}}}),$$

$$(iii) \quad |\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}(q) \le \frac{C}{t_0 - \bar{t}} (1 + \frac{d_{\bar{t}}(p,q)}{\sqrt{t_0 - \bar{t}}})^2.$$

In particular, those estimates are satisfied by any reduced distance based at singular time $l_{p,T}$ by replacing t_0 by T in Theorem 4.1.2. For the metrics $g_j(t)$ defined in (4.1), we have the same type I bound (see (4.2)). We can therefore conclude from Theorem 4.1.2 that

$$l_{p,0}^{j}(q,\bar{t}) \leq C(1 + \frac{d_{\bar{t}}(p,q)}{\sqrt{-\bar{t}}})^{2}.$$

In the same way, the other bounds hold and are preserved under Cheeger-Gromov convergence. This allows us to extract $l_{p\infty,0}^{\infty}$ as we described above, which satisfies Corollary 3.3.5 as equalities and is normalized for the same reasons as explained in Remark 3.5.2.

We summarize the above discussions by stating the theorem, which is stated slightly differently in [23]:

Theorem 4.1.3 Let $(M^n, g(t), p), t \in [0, T), T < \infty, p \in M^n$ be a complete maximal pointed type I Ricci flow. For $t_j \nearrow T$, consider $g_j(t) := \frac{1}{T-t_j}g(T+(T-t_j)t)$

on $M^n \times [-\frac{T}{T-t_j}, 0)$. Then there exists a Cheeger-Gromov-Hamilton limit Ricci flow $(M^n_{\infty}, g_{\infty}(t), p_{\infty})$ on $(-\infty, 0)$ and a potential function $l^{\infty}_{p_{\infty}, 0}$ on $M^n \times (0, T)$, such that $(M^n_{\infty}, g_{\infty}(t), l^{\infty}_{p_{\infty}, 0}(\cdot, t))$ is a normalized gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form with bounded curvature.

We saw in the proof of Theorem 3.5.3, that if $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$ is a compact normalized gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form, then the limit soliton constructed above equals the original soliton, and moreover, the soliton potentials are equal.

4.2 Definition of a density

Consider a type A Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ on [0, T), and let $p \in M^n$. For a sequence $t_i \nearrow T$ defining a reduced distance based at singular time $l_{p,T}$, we have from Definition 3.4.1 that

$$\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) = \int_{M} \lim_{t_i \nearrow T} \left(\left((4\pi(T-\bar{t}))^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{p,t_i}(q,\bar{t})} \right) dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q) \right)$$

Using the uniform lower estimate on l_{p,t_i} by the square of the distance function in Theorem 4.1.2, we actually obtain from the dominated convergence theorem that

$$\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}) = \lim_{t_i \nearrow T} \tilde{V}_{p,t_i}(\bar{t}),$$

which is illustrated in Figure 4.3.

We will now consider points in the closure of space-time, i.e. in $M^n \times [0,T]$, to include the singular time.

Definition 4.2.1 Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a type A Ricci flow on [0,T). For any $(p,t_0) \in M^n \times [0,T]$ and a reduced distance l_{p,t_0} , we define a density of (p,t_0) in the Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ by

$$\theta_{p,t_0} = \lim_{\bar{t} \nearrow t_0} \tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t}) \in (0,1].$$



Figure 4.3: Convergence of the reduced volumes $\tilde{V}_{p,t_i}(\bar{t})$ to a reduced volume based at singular time $\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t})$ and density loss.

If $t_0 < T$, then θ_{p,t_0} is well-defined since the reduced distance l_{p,t_0} is unique, and we have $\theta_{p,t_0} = 1$ by Corollary 2.4.3. For $t_0 = T$ the density might depend on the choice of the reduced distance functions, which in general is only defined as a subsequential limit. If $(M^n, g(t), f(t))$ is a compact gradient shrinking soliton, then by Theorem 3.5.3 the density $\theta_{p,T}$ is well-defined, in fact even independent of the base point p. More general, for products of Einstein solutions with Euclidean space as in Example 3.5.5, we also obtain that the density is well-defined by equation (3.28). This provides a collection of densities $\in (0, 1]$ occuring in Ricci flows, and the values can be computed by (3.26). In [3], Cao, Hamilton and Ilmanen define an analogous density for gradient shrinking solitons satisfying their assumptions.

In general, for complete type I Ricci flows $(M^n, g(t))$ on [0, T), it follows from Theorem 4.1.3 that for $p \in M^n$ and choice of $l_{p,T}$ there exists a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form $(M^n_{\infty}, g_{\infty}(t), l^{\infty}(t))$, which models the singularity at p and whose potential function satisfies

$$\theta_{p,T} = \int_{M^n} (4\pi(T-t))^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l^{\infty}} dvol_{g(t)}$$

for any t. This is depicted in Figure 4.4. While the integral is constant in t, it is only a formal reduced volume, i.e. l^{∞} might not be a reduced distance. This could even be the case when $(M^n, g(t))$ is a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form if the limit soliton is not isometric to it.



Figure 4.4: Relation between density $\theta_{p,T}$ for a type I Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ and limit gradient shrinking soliton $(M^n_{\infty}, g(t), l^{\infty}(t))$.

To distinguish points $p \in M^n$ where the curvature blows up at the singular time T, from those where the curvature stays bounded, we make the following

Definition 4.2.2 The singular set $\Sigma \subset M^n$ for a maximal Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ on [0,T) is given by

$$\Sigma := \{ q \in M \mid |Rm_{g(t)}(q)|_{g(t)} \xrightarrow{t \to T} \infty \}.$$

Remark 4.2.3 The points in the singular set Σ are equivalently those, where the metric g(t) becomes degenerate as $t \to T$.

We can prove

Proposition 4.2.4 Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a maximal type I Ricci flow on [0, T) with singular set Σ . If $p \in M^n \setminus \Sigma$, then $\theta_{p,T} = 1$.

Proof. Give $p \in M^n \setminus \Sigma$, we rescale g(t) for a sequence $t_j \nearrow T$ by

$$g_j(t) := \frac{1}{T - t_j} g(T + (T - t_j)t).$$

The bounded curvature of g(t) near p for all t implies the Cheeger-Gromov-Hamilton limit flow is

$$(M_{\infty}^{n}, g_{\infty}(t)) \cong (\mathbb{R}^{n}, g_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}),$$

which by Theorem 4.1.3 is a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form on flat \mathbb{R}^n . The soliton equation (2.8) immediately implies this is the Gaussian soliton, and hence, $\theta_{p,T} = 1$ by the discussions above. \Box

We generally expect that the structure of a singularity at $p \in \Sigma$ determines a "density loss", so that $\theta_{p,T} < 1$ as shown in Figure 4.3,

CHAPTER 5

Reduced distance and monotonicity based at a submanifold

5.1 Motivation

Our main reason to study a reduced distance based at a point (p, T) at singular time in Chapter 3 was the application to singularity analysis in Chapter 4. In particular, the case where $p \in \Sigma$, the singular set of the Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$, is of interest. In this chapter, we are motivated by the case where the singular set Σ is a lower dimensional submanifold of M^n . In general, not much is known about the size of the singular set for a Ricci flow. The considerations here were triggered by the example of a neckpinch as shown in Figure 5.1. We will extend the notions of the reduced distance and volume from being based at a point $p \in M^n$ to being based at any submanifold $S \subset M^n$.

First, we briefly discuss the neckpinch in Figure 5.1. In dimension n = 2 the picture is actually false, since the curvature in the neck is negative. For $n \ge 3$ the



Figure 5.1: Formation of a neckpinch.

existence of symmetric neckpinches has been rigorously shown in [1]. The authors identify the *n*-sphere S^n minus two points with $(-1,1) \times S^{n-1}$ and consider the evolution of a metric of the form

$$g = \phi(x)^2 dx^2 + \psi(x)^2 g_{S^{n-1}},$$
(5.1)

where as before $g_{S^{n-1}}$ denotes the standard round metric on S^{n-1} (see Figure 5.2.)



Figure 5.2: A symmetric neckpinch.

For a neckpinch the singular set Σ is of lower dimension than the manifold M^n . Motivated by this, we will study \mathcal{L} -geodesics, which are minimizing the \mathcal{L} -length to any given k-dimensional submanifold S of M^n , where k < n and $(M^n, g(t))$ is a Ricci flow on [0, T). We show that the monotonicity of the corresponding reduced volume still holds, and will also extend it to singular time.

Remark 5.1.1 Besides the symmetric neckpinch, there are other examples where similar pinching behavior occurs on compact lower dimensional submanifolds of noncompact manifolds, see e.g. [33] and [13].

5.2 Reduced distance based at a submanifold

In this section, we study the reduced distance based at a lower dimensional submanifold S of M^n .

Definition 5.2.1 For a Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ on [0, T) and a compact (not necessarily connected) embedded k-dimensional submanifold $S \subset M^n$, $0 \le k < n$, we define for given $t_0 \in (0, T)$ and any $(q, \bar{t}) \in M^n \times (0, t_0)$

(i) the *L*-distance from (q, \bar{t}) to (S, t_0) by

$$L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) := \inf_{p \in S} \{ L_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \},\$$

(ii) the reduced distance based at (S, t_0) by

$$l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) := \frac{L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})}{2\sqrt{t_0-\bar{t}}},$$

(iii) and

$$v_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) := (4\pi(t_0-\bar{t}))^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})}.$$

Remark 5.2.2

(i) The compactness of S implies that the infimum in (i) is in fact assumed for some p ∈ S, i.e. L_{S,t0}(q, t̄) is given by the L-length of an L-minimizing L-geodesic from (q, t̄) to (p,t0) for some p ∈ S as shown in Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.3: The \mathcal{L} -distance from (q, \bar{t}) to (S, t_0) assumed by an \mathcal{L} -minimizing \mathcal{L} -geodesic γ for some Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ with submanifold $S \subset M^n$.

(ii) It follows trivially from Definition 2.3.3 that

$$l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) = \inf_{p \in S} \{ l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \}$$

and

$$v_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) = \sup_{p \in S} \{v_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t})\}.$$

To justify the picture in Figure 5.3, we first state and prove the following

Lemma 5.2.3 We make the assumptions as in Definition 5.2.1. If $\gamma : [\bar{t}, t_0] \rightarrow M^n$ with $\gamma(\bar{t}) = q$ and $\gamma(t_0) = p \in S$ is an \mathcal{L} -minimizing \mathcal{L} -geodesic such that $\mathcal{L}(\gamma) = L_{S,t_0}(q, \bar{t})$, then γ is orthogonal to S at $t = t_0$.

Proof. By the assumption $\mathcal{L}(\gamma) = L_{S,t_0}(q, \bar{t})$, we consider the following variational problem: Let

$$\phi: (-\epsilon, \epsilon) \times [\overline{t}, t_0] \to M^n$$

be a (C^1) variation with

$$\phi(s,t_0) \in S,$$

 $\phi(s,\bar{t}) = q,$
and $\phi(0,t) = \gamma(t).$

Then the first variation formula (2.15) for \mathcal{L} at the \mathcal{L} -geodesic γ implies

$$0 = \delta_Y \mathcal{L}(\gamma) = \frac{d}{ds} \Big|_{s=0} \mathcal{L}(\phi(s,t)) = \langle 2\sqrt{t_0 - t} \dot{\gamma}(t), Y(t) \rangle_{g(t)} \Big|_{\overline{t}}^{t_0}, \qquad (5.2)$$

where

$$\begin{split} Y(t) &= \left. \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial s} \right|_{s=0}(s,t), \\ Y(\bar{t}) &= 0, \\ \text{and } Y(t_0) &\in T_{\gamma(t_0)}S. \end{split}$$

Recall that by Proposition 2.3.2, the initial vector

$$w := \lim_{t \to t_0} \sqrt{t_0 - t} \, \dot{\gamma}(t) \in T_{\gamma(t_0)} M$$

exists. Hence, we conclude from (5.2) that

$$0 = \lim_{t \to t_0} \langle \sqrt{t_0 - t} \dot{\gamma}(t), Y(t) \rangle_{g(t)} = \langle w, Y(t_0) \rangle_{g(t_0)}.$$

This holds for all $Y(t_0) \in T_{\gamma(t_0)}S$ (arising from any variation ϕ as above) and implies that $w \in (T_{\gamma(t_0)}S)^{\perp}$, the normal space to S at $\gamma(t_0)$ in $(M^n, g(t_0))$. \Box

Remark 5.2.4 The case k = 0 is included in the above proof; S is then a finite collection of points in M^n .

The main result of this section is that the three differential (in)equalities for l_{p,t_0} in Theorem 2.3.4 also hold for l_{S,t_0} :

Theorem 5.2.5 Under the assumptions of Definition 5.2.1, let $t_0 \in (0,T)$. Then for all $(q,\bar{t}) \in M^n \times (0,t_0)$ the following three (in)equalities hold:

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) - \Delta_{g(\bar{t})} l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{n}{2(t_0-\bar{t})} \ge 0,$$
(5.3)

or equivalently,
$$\Box_{g(\bar{t})}^* v_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \le 0.$$
(5.4)

$$-|\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|^2_{g(\bar{t})} + R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{l_{S,t_0}(q,t) - n}{t_0 - \bar{t}} + 2\Delta_{g(\bar{t})}l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \le 0.$$
(5.5)

$$-2\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})}{t_0 - \bar{t}} = 0.$$
(5.6)

Remark 5.2.6 Similarly to the reduced distance l_{p,t_0} , the reduced distance based at a submanifold l_{S,t_0} is locally Lipschitz on $M^n \times (0,t_0)$, and in fact smooth away from a closed set of Lebesgue measure zero for all t. Hence, the (in)equalities hold in the weak sense, or in particular in the sense of distributions. Compare Remark 2.3.5.

The proof of Theorem 5.2.5 will follow from the next two propositions.

Proposition 5.2.7 Under the assumptions of Definition 5.2.1, let $t_0 \in (0,T)$. Then for all $(q, \bar{t}) \in M^n \times (0, t_0)$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} (i) \ |\nabla l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|^2 &= -R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{1}{t_0 - t} \, l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) - (t_0 - \bar{t})^{-\frac{3}{2}} K(\gamma,\bar{t}), \\ (ii) \ \frac{\partial}{\partial t} l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) &= -R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{1}{t_0 - t} \, l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) - \frac{1}{2} (t_0 - \bar{t})^{-\frac{3}{2}} K(\gamma,\bar{t}), \end{aligned}$$

where

$$K(\gamma, \bar{t}) := \int_{\bar{t}}^{t_0} (t_0 - \bar{t})^{\frac{3}{2}} H(\dot{\gamma}(t), t) dt,$$
$$H(X, t) := \frac{\partial}{\partial t} R_{g(t)} + \frac{1}{t} R_{g(t)} - 2\langle \nabla R, X \rangle + 2Ric(X, X)$$

and $\gamma(t)$ is as in Lemma 5.2.3.

Remark 5.2.8 The equalities in the proposition were observed for l_{p,t_0} by Perelman. H(X,t) is Hamilton's Harnack expression, which is nonnegative for all vector fields X along any complete Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ with bounded nonnegative curvature operator. We will not need any properties of this expression, as will become clear in the proof of Theorem 5.2.5. **Proof.** It follows from Lemma 5.2.3 and the first variation formula (2.15) that

$$\nabla L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) = -2\sqrt{t_0 - \bar{t}}\,\dot{\gamma}(\bar{t}).$$

Hence,

$$|\nabla L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|^2 = 4(t_0 - \bar{t}) |\dot{\gamma}(t)|^2 = -4(t_0 - \bar{t})R_{g(\bar{t})} + 4(t_0 - \bar{t})(R_{g(\bar{t})} + |\dot{\gamma}(t)|^2).$$
(5.7)

We also get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) &= \frac{d}{d\bar{t}} L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) - \langle \nabla L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}), \dot{\gamma}(\bar{t}) \rangle \\ &= -\sqrt{t_0 - \bar{t}} \left(|\dot{\gamma}(\bar{t})|^2 + R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) \right) + 2\sqrt{t_0 - \bar{t}} |\dot{\gamma}(\bar{t})|^2 \\ &= -2\sqrt{t_0 - \bar{t}} R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \sqrt{t_0 - \bar{t}} \left(R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + |\dot{\gamma}(\bar{t})|^2 \right). \end{aligned}$$
(5.8)

We can use Perelman's [26] computation along the \mathcal{L} -minimizing \mathcal{L} -geodesic $\gamma(t)$ as in Lemma 5.2.3, which in our context reads

$$(t_0 - \bar{t})^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + |\dot{\gamma}(\bar{t})|^2 \right) = -K(\gamma, \bar{t}) + \frac{1}{2} L_{S, t_0}(q, \bar{t}).$$
(5.9)

Plugging (5.9) into (5.7) and (5.8), we obtain

$$\begin{split} |\nabla L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|^2 &= -4(t_0-\bar{t})R_{g(\bar{t})} + \frac{4}{\sqrt{t_0-\bar{t}}}\left(\frac{1}{2}L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) - K(\gamma,\bar{t})\right)\\ \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{t}}L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) &= -2\sqrt{t_0-\bar{t}}\,R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{1}{t_0-\bar{t}}\left(\frac{1}{2}L_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) - K(\gamma,\bar{t})\right), \end{split}$$

and therefore

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})|^2 &= -R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{1}{t_0 - \bar{t}} l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) - (t_0 - \bar{t})^{-\frac{3}{2}} K(\gamma,\bar{t}) \\ \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) &= -R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{1}{t_0 - \bar{t}} l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) - \frac{1}{2} (t_0 - \bar{t})^{-\frac{3}{2}} K(\gamma,\bar{t}). \end{aligned}$$

To obtain the monotonicity result of the next section, we will now show that the crucial differential inequality (5.4) holds for the reduced distance to a submanifold.

Proposition 5.2.9 Under the assumptions of Definition 5.2.1, we have

$$\Box_{g(\bar{t})}^* v_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \le 0$$

in the weak sense.

Proof. We argue by contradiction: Assume there exists a (small) parabolic cylinder $P = U \times [t_2, t_1) \subset M^n \times (0, t_0), U \text{ open, such that for all } 0 \le \phi \in C^2_{cpt}(M^n \times (0, t_0))$ with support in P

$$\iint_P v_{S,t_0} \Box \phi \, dvol_{g(t)} dt > 0.$$

Inverting time $(\tau := t_0 - t)$ implies that $-v_{S,t_0}$ is strictly subparabolic in the weak sense of Friedman [14], and we will apply his (strong) maximum principle several times to derive a contradiction. By Remark 5.2.2 (ii)

$$v_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) = \sup_{p \in S} \{ v_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \}.$$

Let $p \in S$, $v_p := v_{p,t_0}(q, \bar{t})$ and $v_S := v_{S,t_0}(q, \bar{t})$. Then $v_p \leq v_{S,t_0}$, and we know from (2.19) that

$$\Box^* v_p \le 0$$

in the weak sense. Now let $\Gamma:=\bar{P}\backslash P$ and w_p be a solution to

$$\begin{cases} \Box^* w_p = 0 \text{ in } \mathsf{P} \\ w_p|_{\Gamma} = v_p|_{\Gamma}. \end{cases}$$

Hence,

$$\Box^*(v_p - w_p) \le 0,$$

and the maximum principle implies

$$v_p \le w_p \text{ in } \bar{P}. \tag{5.10}$$

Similarly, let w_S be a solution to

$$\begin{cases} \Box^* w_S = 0 \text{ in P} \\ w_S|_{\Gamma} = v_S|_{\Gamma}. \end{cases}$$

Since

$$\Box^*(w_p - w_S) = 0$$

and $w_p|_{\Gamma} = v_p|_{\Gamma} \leq v_S|_{\Gamma} = w_S|_{\Gamma}$, the maximum principle implies that

$$w_p \le w_S \text{ in } \bar{P}.$$
 (5.11)

As $p \in S$ was arbitrary, we conclude from (5.10) and (5.11) that

$$v_S \leq w_S$$
 in \bar{P} .

Using $v_S|_{\Gamma} = w_S|_{\Gamma}$ and the maximum principle again, this contradicts the assumption that in the weak sense in P

$$\Box^*(v_S - w_S) > 0,$$

which finishes the proof. \Box

Remark 5.2.10 In the above proof, we only needed the weak maximum principle, which follows trivially from Friedman's strong maximum principle. Moreover, by Remarks 2.3.5 and 5.2.6, we could have assumed v_p and v_s are smooth and P, and purely worked in the smooth category.

Proof of Theorem 5.2.5. The first differential inequality is equivalent to Proposition 5.2.9 by definition of v_{S,t_0} .

We obtain equation (5.6) by subtracting (i) $-2 \cdot$ (ii) in Proposition 5.2.7, since then the term involving $K(\gamma, \bar{t})$ cancels.

Finally, the inequality (5.5) follows as $-2 \cdot (5.3) + (5.6)$.

Remark 5.2.11 By combining the ideas of Perelman's original proof for the first two equalities with the comparison principle proof for the differential equality, we avoid a lengthy discussion of a Laplacian comparison theorem for L_{S,t_0} in the setting of the submanifold S.

5.3 Reduced volume monotonicity based at a submanifold

The purpose of this section is to show the monotonicity of the reduced volume corresponding to the reduced distance based at a submanifold S. Therefore, we now make a further generalization of Perelman's reduced volume.

Definition 5.3.1 Under the assumptions of Definition 5.2.1, we define for each $\bar{t} \in (0, t_0)$ the reduced volume based at (S, t_0) by

$$\tilde{V}_{S,t_0}(\bar{t}) := \int_M v_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \, dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q).$$

By definition, we have for any $p \in S$ and $\overline{t} \in (0, t_0)$ that

$$\tilde{V}_{S,t_0}(\bar{t}) \ge \tilde{V}_{p,t_0}(\bar{t}).$$

To guarantee the existence of the reduced volume based at (S, t_0) , we prove the following

Lemma 5.3.2 $\tilde{V}_{S,t_0}(\bar{t})$ as in Definition 5.3.1 is finite for any $\bar{t} \in (0, t_0)$.

Proof. Fix $\overline{t} \in (0, t_0)$. For any $q \in M$, there exists a $p \in S$ such that

$$l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) = l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}).$$

The known estimate for the reduced distance in terms of the Riemannian distance at time t_0 (see e.g. [36]) gives

$$l_{p,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \ge C_1 d_{t_0}^2(p,q) - C_2,$$

where $C_1 > 0$ and $C_2 > 0$ are constants only depending on \bar{t} and the curvature bound. Using the equivalence of the metrics along the Ricci flow on $[0, t_0]$, we obtain for a possibly different constant C_1 (with dependencies as above) that

$$l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \ge C_1 d_{\bar{t}}^2(p,q) - C_2,$$

and thus

$$l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t}) \ge C_1 d_{\bar{t}}^2(S,q) - C_2.$$
(5.12)

The finiteness of $\tilde{V}_{S,t_0}(\bar{t})$ now follows from the convergence of the integral

$$\int_{M} e^{-d_{\overline{t}}^2(S,q)} \, dvol_{g(\overline{t})}(q) < \infty$$

for compact $S \subset M^n$. \Box

Corollary 5.3.3 (Monotonicity based at a submanifold)

Under the same assumptions as in Definition 5.3.1, we have

- (i) $\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{V}_{S,t_0}(t) \ge 0$,
- (ii) If $\tilde{V}_{S,t_0}(\bar{t}_1) = \tilde{V}_{S,t_0}(\bar{t}_2)$ for $0 < \bar{t}_1 < \bar{t}_2 < t_0$, then $(M^n, g(t), l_{S,t_0}(\cdot, t))$ is a flat gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form.

Proof. This is very similar to the proof of Corollary 3.4.3 (i) and (iii), since the differential (in)equalities in Theorem 5.2.5 hold. The technical ingredient in the setting here is the comparison of $l_{S,t_0}(q,\bar{t})$ with $d_{\bar{t}}^2(S,q)$ in (5.12).

To see the flatness of the gradient shrinking soliton $(M^n, g(t), l_{S,t_0}(\cdot, t))$ obtained in (ii), we first use Remark 2.2.4: For $t \in [t_0 - 1, t_0]$, we have

$$g(t) = (t_0 - t)\phi_t^* g(t_0 - 1).$$

Together with the fact that the curvature of $(M^n, g(t))$ is bounded by C on $[t_0 - 1, t_0]$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sup_{M} |Rm_{g(t_0-1)}|_{g(t_0-1)} &= \sup_{M} |Rm_{\phi_t^*g(t_0-1)}|_{\phi_t^*g(t_0-1)} \\ &= \sup_{M} |Rm_{\frac{1}{t_0-t}g(t)}|_{\frac{1}{t_0-t}g(t)} \\ &= (t_0-t) \sup_{M} |Rm_{g(t)}|_{g(t)} \\ &\leq (t_0-t)C. \end{split}$$

Letting $t \to t_0$ finishes the proof. \Box
5.4 Reduced distance and volume based at a submanifold at singular time

The purpose of this section is to show that similar to Section 3.3, we can define a reduced distance and volume based at a submanifold at singular time under the type A curvature bound assumption.

Theorem 5.4.1 Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be a Ricci flow on [0, T) of type A, and $S \subset M^n$ be a compact (not necessarily connected) embedded k-dimensional submanifold, $0 \le k < n$. Let also $t_i \nearrow T$. Then there exists a locally Lipschitz function

$$l_{S,T}: M^n \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R},$$

which is a subsequential limit

$$l_{S,t_i} \xrightarrow{C^0_{loc}(M^n \times (0,T))} l_{S,T}$$

and satisfies for all $(q, \bar{t}) \in M^n \times (0, T)$ the following differential (in)equalities:

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t}) - \Delta_{g(\bar{t})} l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t}) + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{n}{2(T-\bar{t})} \ge 0,$$
(5.13)

or equivalently for $v_{S,T}(q,\bar{t}) := \left(4\pi(T-\bar{t})\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t})}$

$$\Box_{g(\bar{t})}^* v_{S,T}(q,\bar{t}) \le 0.$$
(5.14)

$$-|\nabla^{g(\bar{t})}l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^{2} + R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t}) - n}{T - \bar{t}} + 2\Delta_{g(\bar{t})}l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t}) \le 0.$$
(5.15)

$$-2\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t}) + |\nabla^{g(\bar{t})} l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t})|_{g(\bar{t})}^2 - R_{g(\bar{t})}(q) + \frac{l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t})}{T-\bar{t}} = 0.$$
(5.16)

Proof. This proof is now almost identical to the proof of Theorem 3.3.1. For the uniform bound on L_{S,t_i} , we can use the same estimate: For $p \in S$, $(q, \bar{t}) \in M^n \times (0, T)$ and $L_{S,t_i}(q, \bar{t}) \geq 0$, we have

$$|L_{S,t_i}(q,\bar{t})| \le |L_{p,t_i}(q,\bar{t})|.$$

If $L_{S,t_i}(q,\bar{t}) < 0$ the bound follows from the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 3.3.1, with $\gamma(t)$ being an \mathcal{L} -minimizing \mathcal{L} -geodesic from (q,\bar{t}) to (S,t_i) .

Similarly, the derivative bounds follow by letting $\gamma_i(t)$ in Lemma 3.3.4 be an \mathcal{L} -minimizing \mathcal{L} -geodesic from (q, \bar{t}) to (S, t_i) . With the results about l_{S,t_0} we have stated earlier, in particular Lemma 5.2.3 and Theorem 5.2.5, the rest of the proof follows. \Box

With Theorem 5.4.1, we can make the following

Definition 5.4.2 Under the assumptions of Theorem 5.4.1 we define

$$l_{S,T}: M^n \times (0,T) \to \mathbb{R}$$

to be a reduced distance based at singular time (S,T) in the Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$.

Next, we define the corresponding reduced volume.

Definition 5.4.3 Under the assumptions as in Theorem 5.4.1 we define a reduced volume based at singular time (S,T) by

$$\tilde{V}_{S,T}(\bar{t}) := \int_M v_{S,T}(q,\bar{t}) dvol_{g(\bar{t})}(q).$$

Remark 5.4.4 Contrary to Remark 3.4.2, the finiteness of $\tilde{V}_{S,T}(\bar{t})$ does not follow by the same argument. However, we can transfer the estimates from Theorem 4.1.2 to the submanifold setting, in the same way as we did in the proof of Lemma 5.3.2. We conclude that for every \bar{t} , $\tilde{V}_{S,t_i}(\bar{t})$ subconverge to $\tilde{V}_{S,T}(\bar{t})$, which is finite.

Now we state the monotonicity for this reduced volume.

Corollary 5.4.5 (Monotonicity based at a submanifold at singular time) Under the assumptions as in Definition 5.4.3, we have

(i)
$$\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{V}_{S,T}(t) \ge 0$$
,

(ii) If $\tilde{V}_{S,T}(\bar{t}_1) = \tilde{V}_{S,T}(\bar{t}_2)$ for $0 < \bar{t}_1 < \bar{t}_2 < T$, then $(M^n, g(t), l_{S,T}(\cdot t))$ is a gradient shrinking soliton in canonical form.

Proof. This is now standard. \Box

5.5 Examples

We consider examples, to indicate that the structure of the submanifold S in the Ricci flow $(M^n, g(t))$ determines the behavior of the monotone quantities defined in the previous sections.

Example 5.5.1 Consider the Ricci flow on [0,T) from Example 3.5.5 on $M^n = N^{n-k} \times \mathbb{R}^k$, where N^{n-k} is an Einstein solution. Let

$$S = N^{n-k} \times \{x_0\} \subset M^n.$$

Then we use (3.21) to compute for $t_i \in [0,T)$, $p = (\theta_0, x_0)$, as well as $q = (\theta, x) \in N^{n-k} \times \mathbb{R}^k$

$$\begin{split} l_{S,t_{i}}(q,\bar{t}) &= \inf_{p \in S} l_{p,t_{i}}(q,\bar{t}) \\ &= \inf_{\theta_{0} \in N^{n-k}} l_{\theta_{0},t_{i}}(\theta,\bar{t}) + \frac{|x-x_{0}|_{\mathbb{R}^{k}}^{2}}{4(t_{i}-\bar{t})} \\ &= \frac{n-k}{2} \Big(1 - \frac{\arctan\sqrt{\frac{t_{i}-\bar{t}}{T-t_{i}}}}{\sqrt{\frac{t_{i}-\bar{t}}{T-t_{i}}}} \Big) + \frac{|x-x_{0}|_{\mathbb{R}^{k}}^{2}}{4(t_{i}-\bar{t})} \end{split}$$

In particular, we find that for any $p = (heta_0, x_0) \in M$

$$l_{S,T}(q,\bar{t}) = \frac{n-k}{2} + \frac{|x-x_0|_{\mathbb{R}^k}^2}{4(T-\bar{t})} = l_{p,T}(q,\bar{t}),$$

and therefore, as computed before,

$$\tilde{V}_{S,T}(\bar{t}) = \left(\frac{R_{g_0}}{2\pi en}\right)^{\frac{n}{2}} Vol(g_0) = \tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}),$$

i.e. we can say that

$$\theta_{S,T} = \left(\frac{R_{g_0}}{2\pi en}\right)^{\frac{n}{2}} Vol(g_0) = \theta_{p,T}.$$

Alternatively, in Example 5.5.1, we can immediately see from Lemma 5.2.3 and the \mathcal{L} -geodesic equation that \mathcal{L} -minimizing \mathcal{L} -geodesics from (q, \bar{t}) to (S, t_0) are constant in N^{n-k} . This is similarly the case for a symmetric neckpinch as discussed in Section 5.1. In fact, the symmetries in equation (5.1) imply

$$l_{p,T} = l_{\Sigma,T}$$

for a symmetric neckpinch, where $p \in \Sigma$. For general Ricci flows, however, we do not obtain this.

CHAPTER 6

Conclusions

6.1 Reduced distance based at a point at singular time

In Chapter 3 of this dissertation, we have extended the reduced distance to base points at singular time, and have shown that the associated reduced volume is monotone. We can make the following alternative definition of a reduced distance based at singular time, which we denote by l.

Definition 6.1.1 Let $(M^n, g(t))$ be Ricci flow on [0, T) of type A. For $p \in M^n$, we define

$$l(q,\bar{t}) := \frac{1}{2\sqrt{T-\bar{t}}} \inf_{\gamma} \int_{\bar{t}}^{T} \sqrt{T-t} \left(|\dot{\gamma}(t)|_{g(t)}^2 + R_{g(t)}(\gamma(t)) \right) dt,$$

where the infimum is taken over all (piecewise C^1) curves

$$\gamma: [\bar{t}, T] \to M^n, \, \gamma(\bar{t}) = q, \, \gamma(T) = p.$$

The infimum is well-defined, since the functional is bounded from below because of the type A assumption. In general, however, $l(q, \bar{t})$ will not be assumed by a minimizing curve $\gamma : [\bar{t}, T] \to M^n$, $\gamma(\bar{t}) = q$, $\gamma(T) = p$.

Understanding the relation between $l(q, \bar{t})$ and $l_{p,T}(q, \bar{t})$ might help to answer both, the question of uniqueness of $l_{p,T}$, i.e. independence of the sequence $\{t_i\}$ used to define it, as well as the question of the dependence of $l_{p,T}$ on the base point $p \in M^n$. This is of particular importance in the case of gradient shrinking solitons, where the relation between the soliton potential f and a reduced distance $l_{p,T}$ based at singular time needs to be further understood (in the noncompact case). The failure of f to be equal to $l_{p,T}$ seems to contain geometric information about the structure of the soliton, in particular the relation between the critical points of f and the choice of the base point p. Here, both the comparison geometry and the partial differential equations points of view of the reduced distance should be helpful. Techniques involving the reduced distance based at singular time, similar to the ones in this dissertation, are also a main tool in [23] to classify 4-dimensional solitons of nonnegative curvature operator.

We discussed applications to the singularity analysis using $l_{p,T}$ in Chapter 4. The uniqueness of the reduced distance based at singular time would imply a welldefined notion of the density $\theta_{p,T}$ in Section 4.2. Regularity theorems similar to White's local regularity theorem for the mean curvature flow [35] should then hold, i.e. using localized quantities one should get a generalization to singular time of the local regularity theorem in [25].

One can obtain similar results to those in this dissertation for the forward reduced distance and volume as defined in [12]. In this case, gradient expanding solitons replace the role of gradient shrinking solitons. We will not include further details here.

6.2 Reduced distance based at a submanifold

We have generalized the reduced distance to be based at a compact k-dimensional submanifold S, $0 \le k < n$, of a Ricci flow on M^n in Chapter 5, and extended the associated reduced volume monotonicity to singular time. We mention that one can also develop the theory of \mathcal{L}_S -geodesics similar to Perelman's theory of \mathcal{L} -geodesics. In particular, for each $t' \in [\bar{t}, t_0)$, the **time** $t' \mathcal{L}_S$ -exponential map is

$$\mathcal{L}_{S}exp_{t'}: \quad (TS)^{\perp} \quad \to \quad M^{n},$$
$$(p,v) \quad \mapsto \quad \gamma_{p,v}(t'),$$

where $p \in S \subset M^n$, $v \in (T_p S)^{\perp} \cong \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$ and $\gamma_{p,v}$ is the \mathcal{L} -geodesic with $\gamma_{p,v}(t_0) = p$ and initial vector v at t_0 . One can then study the \mathcal{L}_S -cut locus and \mathcal{L}_S -Jacobi fields to obtain the expected results.

Similarly to the reduced volume based at a point at singular time, we expect

$$\lim_{\bar{t}\nearrow T}\tilde{V}_{p,T}(\bar{t}),$$

if finite, to carry information about how the submanifold S evolves under the Ricci flow on M^n . We can then define a density of a submanifold in the flow. When $S = \Sigma$, the singular set, this limit is related to the structure of the singularity as is the case for the reduced volume based at a point in the singular set at singular time. If the singular set does not collapse completely (unlike a neckpinch), this quantity should provide insight which the reduced volume based at a point cannot provide. Finally, we expect that one can weaken the smoothness assumptions on the set S, in particular to include more general (compact) singular sets.

APPENDIX

Appendix A

Shi's derivative estimates

For the convenience of the reader, we give the following statement of Shi's local derivative estimates [32], as it can be found for example in [7]:

Theorem A.0.1 For any $\alpha, K, r > 0$ and $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a constant $C = C(\alpha, K, r, n, m)$ such that if M^n is a manifold, $p \in M^n$, and g(t) is a Ricci flow on $U \times [0, T]$, $0 < T < \frac{\alpha}{K}$, where $\bar{B}_{g(0)}(p, r) \subset U$ open, and if

$$|Rm_{g(t)}(x,t)|_{g(t)} \leq K \qquad \text{for all } x \in U \text{ and } t \in [0,T],$$

then

$$|\nabla^m Rm_{g(t)}(y,t)|_{g(t)} \le \frac{C(\alpha, K, r, n, m)}{t^{\frac{m}{2}}}$$

for all $y \in B_{g(0)}(p, \frac{r}{2})$ and $t \in (0, T]$.

Appendix B

Cheeger-Gromov-Hamilton Compactness Theorem

For statement and proof of the following compactness theorem, see for example [7]. It is Hamilton's adaptation of the well-known Cheeger-Gromov Compactness Theorem from Riemannian geometry to the Ricci flow.

Theorem B.0.2 (Cheeger-Gromov-Hamilton Compactness) Let

 $\{(M_i^n, g_i(t), x_i)\}, t \in (\alpha, \omega), \text{ be a sequence of complete pointed solutions to the Ricci flow and <math>t_0 \in (\alpha, \omega)$. Assume that

- (i) $|Rm(g_i(t))|_{g_i(t)} \leq C$ on $M_i^n \times (\alpha, \omega)$ for some constant C independent of i and
- (ii) $inj_{q_i(t_0)}(x_i) \ge \delta > 0$ for some constant δ independent of i.

Then there exists a subsequence of $\{(M_i^n, g_i(t), x_i)\}$, which converges to a complete pointed solution $\{(M_{\infty}^n, g_{\infty}(t), x_{\infty})\}, t \in (\alpha, \omega)$, to the Ricci flow and

$$|Rm(g_{\infty}(t))|_{g_{\infty}(t)} \leq C \text{ on } M_{\infty}^{n} \times (\alpha, \omega).$$

The convergence is in the $C^p(g_{\infty}(t_0))$ -topology for each $p \ge 0$, i.e. there exists a sequence of open sets $U_i \subset M_{\infty}^n$ with $x_{\infty} \in U_i$, $U_i \subset U_{i+1}$ and $\cup_i U_i = M_{\infty}^n$, and there exists a sequence of diffeomorphisms $F_i : U_i \to M_i^n$ with $V_i := F_i(U_i)$ and $F_i(x_{\infty}) = x_i$ such that for every compact $K \subset M_{\infty}^n$ and $I \subset (\alpha, \omega)$

$$F_i^* g_i(t) \to g_\infty(t)$$
 in the $C^p(K \times I, g_\infty)$ topology.

The injectivity radius bound needed to extract the limit flow generally follows from Perelman's "No Local Collapsing Theorem."

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] Sigurd Angenent and Dan Knopf, An example of neckpinching for Ricci flow on S^{n+1} , Math. Res. Lett. 11 (2004), no. 4, 493–518. MR MR2092903
- [2] Christoph Boehm and Burkhard Wilking, Manifolds with positive curvature operators are space forms, 2006, arXiv:math/0606187v1 [math.DG].
- [3] Huai-Dong Cao, Richard S. Hamilton, and Tom Ilmanen, Gaussian densities and stability for some Ricci solitons, 2004, arXiv:math/0404165v1 [math.DG].
- [4] Bing-Long Chen and Xi-Ping Zhu, Complete Riemannian manifolds with pointwise pinched curvature, Invent. Math. 140 (2000), no. 2, 423-452. MR MR1757002 (2001g:53118)
- [5] _____, Uniqueness of the Ricci flow on complete noncompact manifolds, J. Differential Geom. 74 (2006), no. 1, 119–154. MR MR2260930 (2007i:53071)
- [6] Bennett Chow, Sun-Chin Chu, David Glickenstein, Christine Guenther, James Isenberg, Tom Ivey, Dan Knopf, Peng Lu, Feng Luo, and Lei Ni, *The Ricci flow:* techniques and applications. Part I, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 135, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2007, Geometric aspects. MR MR2302600
- Bennett Chow, Peng Lu, and Lei Ni, Hamilton's Ricci flow, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 77, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2006. MR MR2274812
- [8] P. Daskalopoulos and R. Hamilton, Geometric estimates for the logarithmic fast diffusion equation, Comm. Anal. Geom. 12 (2004), no. 1-2, 143-164. MR MR2074874 (2005b:53107)
- [9] Dennis M. DeTurck, Deforming metrics in the direction of their Ricci tensors, J. Differential Geom. 18 (1983), no. 1, 157–162. MR MR697987 (85j:53050)

- [10] Klaus Ecker, Dan Knopf, Lei Ni, and Peter Topping, Local monotonicity and mean value formulas for evolving Riemannian manifolds, J. Reine Angew. Math.
 616 (2008), 89-130. MR MR2369488
- [11] Joerg Enders, Reduced distance based at singular time in the Ricci flow, 2007, arXiv:0711.0558v1 [math.DG].
- [12] Michael Feldman, Tom Ilmanen, and Lei Ni, Entropy and reduced distance for Ricci expanders, J. Geom. Anal. 15 (2005), no. 1, 49-62. MR MR2132265 (2006b:53091)
- [13] Mikhail Feldman, Tom Ilmanen, and Dan Knopf, Rotationally symmetric shrinking and expanding gradient Kähler-Ricci solitons, J. Differential Geom. 65 (2003), no. 2, 169-209. MR MR2058261 (2005e:53102)
- [14] Avner Friedman, A strong maximum principle for weakly subparabolic functions, Pacific J. Math. 11 (1961), 175–184. MR MR0123096 (23 #A427)
- [15] Hui-Ling Gu and Xi-Ping Zhu, The existence of type II singularities for the Ricci flow on S^{n+1} , 2007, arXiv:0707.0033v1 [math.DG].
- [16] Richard S. Hamilton, Three-manifolds with positive Ricci curvature, J. Differential Geom. 17 (1982), no. 2, 255–306. MR MR664497 (84a:53050)
- [17] _____, Eternal solutions to the Ricci flow, J. Differential Geom. 38 (1993), no. 1, 1–11. MR MR1231700 (94g:58043)
- [18] _____, The formation of singularities in the Ricci flow, (1995), 7–136. MR MR1375255 (97e:53075)
- [19] _____, Four-manifolds with positive isotropic curvature, Comm. Anal. Geom. 5 (1997), no. 1, 1–92. MR MR1456308 (99e:53049)
- [20] Gerhard Huisken, Asymptotic behavior for singularities of the mean curvature flow, J. Differential Geom. 31 (1990), no. 1, 285-299. MR MR1030675 (90m:53016)
- [21] Bruce Kleiner and John Lott, Notes on Perelman's papers, 2006, arXiv:math/0605667v2 [math.DG].
- [22] John Morgan and Gang Tian, Ricci flow and the Poincaré conjecture, Clay Mathematics Monographs, vol. 3, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2007. MR MR2334563

- [23] Aaron Naber, Noncompact shrinking 4-solitons with nonnegative curvature, 2007, arXiv:0710.5579v1 [math.DG].
- [24] Lei Ni, Monotonicity and Kähler-Ricci flow, Geometric evolution equations, Contemp. Math., vol. 367, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005, pp. 149–165. MR MR2115758 (2006a:53082)
- [25] _____, Mean value theorems on manifolds, Asian J. Math. 11 (2007), no. 2, 277-304. MR MR2328895
- [26] Grisha Perelman, The entropy formula for the Ricci flow and its geometric applications, 2002, arXiv:math/0211159v1 [math.DG].
- [27] _____, Ricci flow with surgery on three-manifolds, 2003, arXiv:math/0303109v1 [math.DG].
- [28] Peter Petersen and William Wylie, *Rigidity of gradient Ricci solitons*, 2007, arXiv:0710.3174v1 [math.DG].
- [29] Natasa Sesum, Convergence of the Ricci flow toward a soliton, Comm. Anal. Geom. 14 (2006), no. 2, 283-343. MR MR2255013 (2007f:53080)
- [30] Natasa Sesum, Gang Tian, and Xiaodong Wang, Notes on Perelman's paper on the entropy formula for Ricci flow and its geometric application, 2004.
- [31] Wan-Xiong Shi, Deforming the metric on complete Riemannian manifolds, J. Differential Geom. 30 (1989), no. 1, 223-301. MR MR1001277 (90i:58202)
- [32] _____, Ricci deformation of the metric on complete noncompact Riemannian manifolds, J. Differential Geom. 30 (1989), no. 2, 303-394. MR MR1010165 (90f:53080)
- [33] Miles Simon, A class of Riemannian manifolds that pinch when evolved by Ricci flow, Manuscripta Math. 101 (2000), no. 1, 89-114. MR MR1737226 (2000k:53062)
- [34] Andrew Stone, A density function and the structure of singularities of the mean curvature flow, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 2 (1994), no. 4, 443-480.
 MR MR1383918 (97c:58030)
- [35] Brian White, A local regularity theorem for mean curvature flow, Ann. of Math.
 (2) 161 (2005), no. 3, 1487–1519. MR MR2180405 (2006i:53100)

[36] Rugang Ye, On the l-function and the reduced volume of Perelman I, 2006, arXiv:math/0609320v2 [math.DG].

